slu

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Department of Energy and Technology

Assessing the impact of policy instruments on food waste reduction in the EU

Lena Krautscheid

Master's thesis Sustainable Food Systems

Institutionen för Energi och Teknik Department of Energy and Technology Examensarbete 2020:05 ISSN 1654-9392 Uppsala 2020 SLU, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Energy and Technology

Title: Assessing the impact of policy instruments on food waste reduction in the EU Swedish title: Bedömning av olika styrmedels förmåga att förebygga matsvinn inom EU

Author: Lena Krautscheid

Supervisor: Assem Abu Hatab, Department of Economics, SLU Examiner: Mattias Eriksson, Department of Energy and Technology, SLU

Course: Master thesis in Food Science Course code: EX0875 Credits: 30 Level: Advanced (A2E) Programme/education: Sustainable Food Systems

Series title: Examensarbete (Institutionen för energi och teknik, SLU), 2020:05 ISSN: 1654-9392

Uppsala 2020

Keywords: Food waste, Surplus food, Policy instruments, Food value chain, Sustainable Development, Waste management, Waste disposal Online publication: <u>http://stud.epsilon.slu.se</u>

Abstract

The issue of food waste and loss is becoming a critical issue all around the globe, resulting in an unsustainable food system. Therefore, food waste reduction is essential to provide food security and combat environmental impacts that deprive agricultural production in the upcoming decades. The UN's Sustainable Development Goals need to be reached by 2030, especially the goals 2 (end hunger) and 12 (ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns) as well as the targets set by the EU. Thus, this research aims to assess the impact of three policy instruments: the incineration tax, the landfill tax and the pay-as-you-throw approach to seek out the most efficient one among these three as well as find loopholes to successfully find a strategy that reaches sustainable development and satisfy the demand of the growing population without depriving the needs of future generations. Identifying the efficiency of the three market-based instruments will contribute to fulfil the EU requirements and targets. A conceptual framework was chosen to explain the relationships between the different factors that have an influence on the policy instruments and thus on the dependent variable "Food waste". The empirical method was a multiple regression model, giving the opportunity to show the significance of several regressors. In the findings, the level of income among the EU member countries was proved to have an insignificant effect on the amount of food waste. Additionally, the findings for the policy instruments showed that the incineration tax and the landfill tax are slightly increasing the quantity of food waste, while the findings for the pay-as-you-throw approach are revealing both and increasing as well as a decreasing effect on the amount of food waste among countries in the EU. The results for the control variables vary depending on the policy and country but the variable "Waste management" has proven to have a significant influence on the reduction of food waste in the EU. There is great need for an improve of data, unified definitions as well as collaboration among stakeholder on national and international level to build up a sustainable food system that is able to cope with the environmental, social and economic challenges.

Keywords: Food waste, Surplus food, Policy instruments, Food value chain, Sustainable Development, Waste management, Waste disposal

Table of contents

List of tables 5						
List of figures 6						
Abbre	eviations	7				
1	Introduction	8				
2	Overview of EU policies for food waste reduction	13				
2.1	Trends in EU policies for food waste reduction	13				
2.2	Incineration tax	16				
2.3	Landfill tax	18				
2.4	Pay-as-you-throw approach	20				
3	Literature review and Conceptual Framework	23				
3.1	Literature review	23				
	3.1.1 General studies on food waste	23				
	3.1.2 EU studies on food waste and studies on food waste reduction	24				
	3.1.3 Studies of the incineration tax, landfill tax and the PAYT approach	25				
3.2	Conceptual framework	26				
4	Empirical Model and Data	28				
4.1	Model Specification	28				
4.2	Data	29				
4.3	Limitations	31				
5	Results and Discussion	32				
5.1	Empirical results	32				
	5.1.1 Results of the Incineration tax model	33				
	5.1.2 Landfill tax	37				
	5.1.3 Pay-as-you-throw approach	42				
6	Summary and concluding remarks	47				
Refer	ences	50				
Acknowledgements 5						
Appendix 1 6						

List of tables

Table 1. Overview of the Policy's characteristics	21
Table 2. Variables Description, Measurement and Data sources	30
Table 3. Countries' level of income and year of implementation of the incineration	tax
	34
Table 4. Regression results of the countries that implemented the incineration tax	36
Table 5. Empirical results of the models of the countries that implemented the incineration tax	36
Table 6. Countries' level of income and year of implementation of the landfill tax	38
Table 7. Regression results of the countries that implemented the landfill tax	40
Table 8. Empirical results of the models of the countries that implemented the land tax	dfill 41
Table 9. Countries' level of income and year of implementation of the Pay-as-you- throw approach	43
Table 10. Regression results of the countries that implemented the Pay-as-you- throw approach	45
Table 11. Empirical results of the models of the countries that implemented the Pa as-you-throw approach	ау- 46
Table 12. Correlation matrix	60
Table 13. Descriptive statistics Incineration tax	60
Table 14. Descriptive statistics Landfill tax	61
Table 15. Descriptive statistics Pay-as-you-throw approach	62

List of figures

Figure 1. Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste of the EU28 (2004-2016).	14
Figure 2. Conceptual Framework for analysing the impact of independent varia	ables
on food waste	27
Figure 3. Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste of the countries that	
implemented the incineration tax during the period 2004-2016.	33
Figure 4. Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste of the countries that	
implemented the landfill tax during the period 2004-2016.	37
Figure 5. Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste of the countries that	
implemented the Pay-as-you-throw approach during the period 2004	1-
2016.	42

Abbreviations

BMW	Biogradable municipal waste
CPI	Consumer Price Index
ECB	European Central Bank
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FW	Animal and Food Waste; vegetable waste
GHG	Greenhouse Gas Emissions
NGO	Non-government/Non-profit organization
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PAYT	Pay-as-you-throw approach
PD	Population density
WM	Waste management

1 Introduction

In the following chapter, an introduction of the topic food waste and its challenges will be given. Additionally the objectives, the research questions and aim as well as the relevance of this thesis will be stated.

The current global food system is unsustainable. Food is unequally distributed around the world, leading to the triple burden of malnutrition: hunger, micro-nutrient deficiencies and obesity as well as non-communicable diseases (Devin & Richards, 2018; FAO et al., 2015). There are imbalances and ethical inequalities in regards to the levels of income within societies (FAO et al., 2015). The current population is rising and will become more urbanized and wealthier. Around 736 million people accounting for ten per cent of the global population are suffering from extreme poverty and 821 million people from hunger (Abu Hatab et al., 2019). Moreover, the food system is responsible for several environmental, economic and social issues like water scarcity and pollution as well as greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, soil degradations and loss of biodiversity (Thyberg & Tonjes, 2016, p. 111; Garrone et al., 2014; Schanes et al., 2018; Finnveden et al., 2013). Therefore the current food system is characterised by a low resistance to natural and socioeconomic stressor (Abu Hatab et al., 2019).

By 2050, the global population will increase up to nine billion people, eight billion of them in developing countries, where the most poor and insecure people are living. Creating a more sustainable food system would not only feed the growing population more sustainably and fairly but requires to solve the challenges that currently challenge the food system. This will lead to an increased amount of people living in cities, resulting in an urban transformation with two-thirds of the population living in urban areas. Thus, it will not only cause several social challenges but foremost lifestyle changes as well as increased incomes, leading to a rising demand of energy-intensive foods like meat and dairy products. A transformation of the food system is needed. This has lead to a transformation of the agricultural sector implementing intensification and monocultures to satisfy the demand of the growing population. The current agricultural system and food system is characterised by intensification and monocultures to satisfy the demand causing a harmful impact on the environment, the health of humans, plants and animals (Gjerris & Gaiani, 2013, p. 16). The

natural resources are getting deprived and are shrinking at an alarming rate, which is causing scarcity, degradation, desertification, and deforestation. As a result of these environmental consequences, climate change will make it more difficult for the food system to produce food in many regions of the world (Abu Hatab et al., 2019). Therefore, the viable environmental, social, economic consequences will make it more difficult to provide food security and creating a food system that is environmentally sustainable and resilient (Garnett, 2013).

Due to the increase of challenges, creating a more sustainable and resilient agricultural systems has gained an increasing attention in regard to policy and agricultural research to find solutions to the environmental changes as well as reach food security among the whole globe and meet the demand of the growing population. Therefore, the UN's Sustainable Development Goal 2 (end hunger, achieve food security and improve nutrition, and promote sustainable agriculture) will be dependent on the countries' ability to create a sustainable food system that can both cope with the challenges and satisfy the demand in a sustainable and resilient matter. The issues of food loss and waste in the context of transforming the food system have gained a higher interest in the recent years. Taking a look at the definition of food loss and waste, it can be referred to the edible parts of plants and animals that are produced for consumption but are not consumed by people in the end. According to Parfitt et al. (2010), food loss accounts for the food that is lost in the process along the food chain and does not reach the final consumer. On the other hand, food waste occurs at the retail and consumption stage and refers to "food appropriate for human consumption being discarded or left to spoil at consumer level, regardless of the cause" (HLPE, 2014, p. 11).

Taking a look at a definition of food waste, there is no uniform definition on which scholars agree on. The most widely used definition by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) describes food waste as "the removal of food from the supply chain which is fit for consumption, or which has spoiled or expired, mainly caused by economic behaviour, poor stock management or neglect" (FAO, 2014, p. 4) and happens at the end of the value chain (Teller et al., 2018). The definition distinguishes between avoidable and unavoidable food waste and shows that food waste is occurring at the end of the food system in developed countries. Besides this definition, the FAO and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) presented a working definition regarding waste reduction that includes "preventing and/or reducing the generation of waste, improving the quality of waste generated, including reduction of hazard, and encouraging re-use, recycling and recovery" (Kim, 2002, p. 12).

There are no accurate estimates of food losses and waste available. Evidence indicates that around one-third of the food produced globally is lost or wasted along the food chain, from production to consumption (Kummu et al., 2012). This not only leads to an amount of 25 to 50 per cent of food that is wasted along the food chain but also pushing the responsibility on retailers and consumers which are accountable for it (Mackie, 2014, p. 4; Lundqvist et al., 2008; Parfitt et al., 2010). Moreover, the FAO states that "if FLW was a country, it would be the world's third largest emitter of GHGs" (FAO, 2015, p. 1). That means, that food losses and waste are closely connected to the sustainability of the food system from two different perspectives, first from a food security perspective and second from an environmental perspective. Creating a sustainable food system will thus be an effective tool to provide food security and lower GHG emission, which results in a reduced environmental footprint of the food system (Abu Hatab et al., 2019). In order to achieve the SDGs, food loss and waste need to be reduced by half at the retail and consumer level by 2030, which SDG 12 "Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns" stands for (UN, 2019). This becomes very significant to address since in developed countries like in Europe or North America, food waste reaches the quantity of 280-300 kg per capita and has a value of around 165,5 billion dollars per year in the USA (Garrone et al., 2014; Gjerris & Gaiani, 2013). Accordingly to Kusch & Evoh (2013) food losses and wastes have a global quantity estimation of 1.3 billion tons per year. In environmental terms, food waste worldwide is accountable for 3.49 Gt CO2-eq (FAO, 2014). It is seen as an "integral part of western consumer societies" (Gjerris & Gaiani, 2013, p. 16), especially by households which make reduction as the best strategy to minimize waste (Parfitt et al., 2010; Kusch & Evoh, 2013). The issue of food losses and waste aroused first in the 1940s when the FAO was founded (Kusch & Evoh, 2013).

Like in other developed regions, most food waste occurs at the retailer and consumer stages of the food chain. Several policies have been implemented by the EU and its member states to reduce food waste. In 1999, the EU started with the EU Landfill Directive as a "turning point" to deal with waste (Bulkeley & Gregson, 2009, p. 932). It had the purpose to cut the methane emissions by half and reduce the quantity of municipal waste going to landfill (Secondi et al., 2015). But even before, in the year 1975, a European directive has introduced the three R's (reduce, recycle, recover) and put them into law (EC, 1975). One of those is called "The Waste Hierarchy" which is seen as an efficient approach showing how surplus food can be redistributed (ibid.). Since then, the EU updates their Framework over the years to add more sustainability and adapt the framework to its targets. Therefore, in 2008 the EU Waste Framework was revised to focus more on waste, recycling and recovery (Secondi et al., 2015). Recently, the EU released the waste hierarchy prioritising reduce, reuse and recycle before landfilling or incineration of waste. Setting targets towards circular economy and the promotion of more sustainable waste treatments (Marques et al., 2018). The goal is to achieve 50 per cent recycling of municipal waste until 2020, which was updated in 2014 up to 70 per cent until 2030, giving the member states more times to realize that target (Secondi et al., 2015). This was set along with the goal to eliminate landfilling virtually, implement waste management plans by 2025 and "meet an aspirational objective to reduce food waste by 30 per cent" (Finnveden et al., 2013; Milliute-Plepiene & Plepys, 2015, p. 182; Secondi et al., 2015). This is very crucial, since 40 per cent of food is wasted in households and other studies found out, that 10-30 per cent of food is wasted by consumers (Monier et al., 2010; Gjerres & Gaiani, 2013; Quested et al., 2013; Buzby & Hyman, 2012). To address this issue, EU countries have implemented a number of policies including initiatives and campaigns realized by Non-governmental organizations (NGO's) or authorities to reduce food waste in the EU for example the Waste and Resource Action Programme (WRAP) in the UK, "Love Food, Hate Waste" campaign and the Swedish research program "Towards a sustainable waste management" (TOSUWAMA) as well as EU-Fusions Food Use for Social Innovation by Optimising Waste Prevention Strategies (Secondi et al., 2015). Next to campaigns in several EU countries like "Too good to go", incentives and penalties like the landfill tax are expanding to decrease food waste and promote solutions for energy recovery (Sahlin 2007; Cossu & Masi, 2013). Therefore, countries have focussed not only on soft policy instruments but also on market-based and control policy instruments like the incineration tax, landfill tax and the Pay-as-you-throw (PAYT) approach.

There is a lack of studies that assess the impact of policy instruments on macro level or national level as well as "the business or management side of food waste initiatives" that makes it "unclear which factors influence the success" (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2017, p. 34). Taking a look at the published literature, there are some studies concerning policy instruments of food waste but mainly and foremost they are country specific seldom comparing the impact of policy instruments with each other (Finnveden et al., 2013; Cossu & Masi, 2013; Bulkeley & Gregson, 2009). Another characteristic of this literature it that it focuses on food waste at the household level, identifying drivers for changing consumer level (Andersson & Stage, 2018; Johnsone & Labonne, 2004; Thyberg & Tonjes, 2016). This is also significant to reduce food waste but hard to compare among countries like EU members. Only a few studies seek to analyse the impact of policies on food waste on national or international level (Bräutigam et al., 2014; Priefer et al., 2016; Watkins et al., 2012). This is mainly due to the fact that the data is insufficient and countries of the EU are still struggling to find a uniform definitions for food loss or waste. Therefore, more studies are needed that analyse the efficiency of policy instruments to seek out not only the most efficient one but also the most sustainable as well as the most applicable among the member countries of the EU.

Against this background, the aim of this thesis is to assess the impact of marketbased instruments implemented by the EU to on food waste reduction. The specific objective of this thesis is twofold: i) to assess the impact of policy instruments on food waste reduction in the EU, and ii) to investigate heterogeneities of the effect of these policy instruments within individual EU countries. The empirical analysis will focus on three policy instruments, namely: the incineration tax, the landfill tax and the PAYT approach. Specifically, the study will address the following two research questions:

- What is the impact of policy instruments like the incineration and landfill tax as well as the PAYT fee on the reduction of food waste in the EU?
- How and why does the impact of the policy instruments differ across the investigated countries?

A distinction has to be made between market-based instruments, command and control instruments and soft instruments as for example campaigns, education and information (EEA, 2016). Due to a limited scope, this thesis will focus on marketbased instruments due to a limited scope but it should be noted that the impacts of all policy instruments are interlinked and need to complement each other for a successful achievement of food waste reduction, changing food waste behaviour and rising awareness. Especially, developed countries have to change their behaviour regarding waste, needing to try to apply the waste pyramid more efficiently (EC, 2019). Additionally, the governments are the strongest force and need to take responsibility to enforce power to combat food waste and change consumer behaviour in form of regulations at the consumer and retailer stage of the food chain. Thus, the prerequisites are diverse across the EU member countries. Some countries might have better infrastructures or invest more capital in waste management than others to reach their national goals. The analysis of the research questions will be underlined by data including variables of all three pillars of sustainable development that are essential for the achievement of the SDGs until 2030. With the findings of the thesis, the most effective policy instruments will be sorted out to improve and to further applicate as well as the differences across the policy instruments and countries. The thesis seeks to contribute to a solution regarding food security to combat against the unethical aspect of food waste. Additionally, the thesis will give evidence about different factors that influence the amount of waste in the countries of the EU. Hence, it can give ideas of how to prevent food waste or make waste management more efficient. This will be significant when implementing a policy for disposal that complement the waste hierarchy. It is not only on the governments to implement policy instruments but, it is also the responsibility of the population. They need to change their behaviour since waste performance in developed countries is highly dependent on consumers and their knowledge in order to build up a sustainable food system for future generations. That means that consumers and retailers have to get involved and carry out and adapt the policy instruments implemented by the governments. Hence, the findings will not only give evidence about the most efficient policy but also contribute to find a solution to decrease the environmental, economic and social impacts food waste has. Lastly, it should be kept in mind that food waste is a small part of the total waste collected but the conclusions of the thesis might also be valid for the waste management of other parts of waste since incineration and landfilling are also common waste disposal solutions for other waste. Consequently could the conclusions of this thesis not only contribute to waste management in the food sector but also to the total waste management as well as to the achieving of the SDGs of the UN but more prior the targets set by the EU, while meeting the demand without depriving the demand of future generations (UN, 2019).

2 Overview of EU policies for food waste reduction

This chapter will give an overview of the EU policies to reduce food waste along with a separate introduction of the three different policy instruments, the incineration, landfill tax and the pay-as-you-throw approach.

2.1 Trends in EU policies for food waste reduction

Over the past few decades, the EU and European Commission have changed and updated several times their strategy for food waste reduction, as presented in Figure 1. The management of food waste requires the involvement of different policy areas to sufficiently reduce food waste and its environmental consequences. That means, that policy areas like "sustainable resource management, climate change, energy, biodiversity, habitat protection, agriculture and soil protection" have to go hand in hand to combat food waste since they are interlinked with each other (Monier et al., 2010, p. 26). In order to include all these policy areas, the European Commission has declared different Waste Directives, like the EU Landfill Directive, the Waste Framework Directive or, recently, the Circular Economy Package.



Figure 1. Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste of the EU28 (2004-2016). (Source: EUROSTAT, 2020)

In 1999, the adoption of the Landfill Directive by the EU was a turning point in dealing with waste in member countries (Bulkeley & Gregson, 2009). The purpose of the directive was to cut the methane emissions by half and reduce the quantity of municipal waste going to landfill (Secondi et al., 2015). Thus, the Landfill Directive aimed to minimize the amount of biodegradable municipal waste (BMW) that will be disposed on landfill (Monier et al., 2010). The Landfill Directive not only set targets about the amount of tonnes that are allowed to be landfilled by 2006, 2009 and 2016, but also that biodegradable waste has to be reduced by 65 per cent in 2016 in comparison to levels in 1995. Additionally, 75 per cent of the quantity of BMW produced in 1995 was allowed to go to landfill in 2006, 50 per cent in 2009 and 35 percent in 2016. There are no specific regulations on how countries should dispose the waste, which is the reason why most countries favour incineration (ibid.). In 2014, the European Commission revised the targets of the Landfill Directive and set a new goal until 2025. Thus, the European Commission aims to "phase out landfilling by 2025 for recyclable waste [...] in non-hazardous waste landfills, corresponding to a maximum landfilling rate of 25 per cent (EC, 2019).

In April 2006, the European Parliament agreed on the Directive 2006/12/EC with the aim to protect not only humans but also the environment against environmental negative externalities that are caused by the value chain including the disposal of waste (Monier et al., 2010). After the publication of the Directive 2006/12/EC, the Directive got revised on June 17th 2008. The new Waste Framework Directive 2008/98/EC aimed at simplifying and developing unified definitions as well as push waste prevention and its measures more forward. Therefore, the new Directive sought to replace three already existing directives: the Directive 2006/12/EC, the Hazardous Waste Directive as well as the Waste Oils Directive. Additionally, new and revised targets were formulated like new recycling targets that need to be achieved by 2020, pushing waste prevention more forward with the help of national

waste plans and "[...] a commitment from the EC to report on prevention and set waste prevention objectives" (ibid., p. 27). A waste hierarchy is also included in the new targets of the Waste Directive 2008/98/EC, having the focus on prevention as the highest goal, then reuse, recycling, recovery and lastly disposal of waste. To gain more clarity, the European Commission aims at achieving unified definitions of recycling, recovery etc. as well as separate waste and by-products for more transparency and defining an "end-of waste criteria" (EC, 2019). To achieve these targets, a clear strategy is needed. Thus, Article 22 gives evidence on how to prevent and recycle waste like "a) the separate collection of bio-waste with a view to the composting and digestion of bio-waste b) the treatment of bio-waste in a way that fulfils a high level of environmental protection and c) the use of environmentally safe materials produced from bio-waste" (Secondi et al., 2015, p. 27).

In recent years, the European Commission published an ambitious Circular Economy Package that revised not only the Landfill Directive but also the Waste Directive Framework, to integrate more sustainability into waste management (EC, 2019; Secondi et al., 2015). To achieve prevention or in general better waste management, a few key elements have been revised and included into the new Circular Economy Package. One target will be to have a recycling rate of municipal waste of 65 per cent by 2030 as well as 75 per cent for packaging waste by 2030. Additionally, landfilling of municipal waste should have a maximum of ten per cent by 2030 and a total "ban of landfilling separately collected waste" (EC, 2019). Additionally, economic incentives that discourage landfilling should be pushed forward and as in the Waste Framework Directive 2008/98/EC, definitions are aimed to be improved and simplified to make a unification of calculation methods of recycling in the EU possible and more transparent. The European Commission promotes concrete measures to push forward re-use as well as "stimulate industrial symbiosis - turning one industry's by-product into another industry's raw material" (ibid.). Lastly, one of the revised key elements for prevention and better waste management is to integrated economic incentives targeting producers to provide the demand with greener products and encourage recovery and recycling schemes as for "packaging, batteries, electric and electronic equipment, vehicles" (ibid.). The targets that are set will try to meet the "increasing challenges through circular economy to promote recycling and sustainable waste treatment with energy recover" (Margues et al., 2018, p. 293).

Along with the Directive, the European Commission set a "thematic strategy on the prevention and recycling of waste" (Monier et al., 2010, p. 27) in 2005, that has the aim to minimize the negative environmental externalities of every step of a product's or resource's lifecycle (Secondi et al., 2015). It focusses on using other more environmentally friendly ways to manage waste, particularly biodegradable waste. The Directive 1999/31/EC says that two-thirds have to be redirected for disposal instead of going to landfill. Additionally, the EU published the green paper to deal with bio-waste in the EU. It aims to find options to manage bio-waste and promote the development of future waste management as well as to review the present situation. In 2010, the EU released a "communication on bio-waste management in the EU" (EC, 2019). This entails along with recommendations for managing bio-waste also the promotion of separate collection of waste. Also, a few key points are included in the EU future plan like the "encouragement of prevention of bio-waste, treatment of bio-waste according to the waste hierarchy, protection of EU soils via a focus on compost and digestive, investment in research, [and] innovation and efforts to reinforce the full implementation of the existing set of EU waste legislation" (ibid.). There are two most common waste treatment operations in the EU: landfilling and incineration (ibid.). But since the past years, there are more and more campaigns and programmes coming up for example the EU's Sixth Environment Action Programme that went from 2002 until 2013, the Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) from the UK as well as the Swedish research program "towards a sustainable waste management" (TOSUWAMA) (Finnveden et al., 2013, p. 844).

The next sub-sections provide a brief overview of each of the three strategies for food waste reduction that are investigated in this thesis.

2.2 Incineration tax

In order to deal with waste, several countries like Austria, Belgium, Denmark and Italy have started to implement an incineration tax in the 1990s as one of the most widely used incentives (Thi et al., 2015; Jofra Sora, 2013; Sahlin et al., 2007). The incineration tax is an economic market-based solution that has the effect to change waste management from landfilling towards incineration and increase the recycling rate as well as the costs for waste management (Chalak et al., 2016; Priefer et al., 2013; FUSIONS, 2016).

The aim of most waste policies and regulations is to increase the recycling of food waste and diversion of food waste "away from landfills" through taxes like landfill tax, incineration tax or the PAYT approach (Chalak et al., 2016, p. 419). That means that the incineration tax is a tool to efficiently reduce general waste and food waste (Thi et al., 2015; Priefer et al., 2016). According to Watkins et al. (2012, p. 5) "there is a broad overall trend that higher incineration charges are generally associated with higher percentages of municipal waste being recycled and composted, indicating that higher incineration taxes not only reduce waste but also turn waste into energy that can be recovered (Watkins et al., 2012). It is "an established technology" (Cristobal et al., 2016, p. 159) and one of the common operations to handle food waste along with anaerobic digestion, composting and landfilling and is implemented as a unit tax (Karousakis, 2006). Therefore, the tax is seen as a very important strategy to minimize waste and valorisation and is also applicable for food waste and residues (Otles et al., 2015; Hodges et al. 2011; Sasao, 2014).

Increased efficiency comes with a high cost in capital and maintenance since the technical-based operations and instruments to control the residues are expensive (e.g. an incineration boiler) (World Bank Technical Report, 1999; Thi et al., 2015; Finnveden et al., 2007; Murugan et al., 2013). Additionally, the incineration process

is bound to some requirements that are necessary to make the process efficient. For example, there has to be a "mandatory separate collection of food waste" established and the rate of the tax needs to be at a sufficient level to have an impact on the reduction of food waste (Priefer et al., 2013, p. 6). Also, the regulations that are currently implemented need to be promoted and new solutions like renewable energies need to be verified and pushed forward in the EU (Priefer et al., 2013). The efficiency of the tax also depends on "institutional as well as technological factors" (Sahlin et al., 2007, p. 843).

When implementing the incineration tax, there is a distinction to be made between the tax carried out by the public authorities and gate fees set by the operators to provide the service of handling the waste. The fee is designed to cover the costs and profit of these operations (Watkins et al., 2012). The amount of tax ranges from €2.40/tonne in France up to €44/tonne in Denmark and is dependent on the fee accepting the waste (ibid.). That means according to Watkins et al. (2012) if waste is factored in, the costs for incinerating per tonne waste can range between €46 (Czech Republic) up to €174 (Germany). The result of implementing an incineration tax comes also with higher incineration gate fees (Profu, 2006; RVF, 2006b; Sahlin et al., 2007). Nevertheless, incineration with energy recovery remains the largest household waste treatment method (50%), followed by recycling (34%) as well as "biological treatment" (10%) (Sahlin et al., 2007, p. 829). Because incineration results in energy recover, the interest by electricity companies to use waste as a fuel for heating is expect to be increasing in the next years, since 10 to 15 per cent of municipalities in Sweden are already heating with energy recovered from waste (Eriksson, 2015; Finnveden et al., 2007).

The reasons to handle more waste through incineration than landfill are diverse. For example, it is less energy intensive than landfilling and generates less GHG emissions except when incinerating plastics in a short run (Finnveden et al., 2007). Even though there will be more waste managed by incineration, recycling will remain favourable "from an environmental perspective" compared to biofuels in the long run (Sahlin et al., 2007; Finnveden et al., 2007, p. 3). Thus, waste incineration is better than landfill disposal and plays a role in modern and progressive waste management systems but should not substitute recycling (Finnveden et al., 2007). But besides plastic there are other waste flows like wood waste, garden and food waste or disposal of unsorted waste as well as "residues from recycling of materials and biological treatments" where incineration is the most sustainable waste strategy (ibid., p. 7). According to Otles et al. (2015, p. 14), "incineration is a viable option for food wastes with relatively low water content (<50% by mass) and an option for hazardous wastes". The process utilizes oxygen to incinerate the waste while it remains staying under emissions standards (Jofra Sora, 2013). The process has some advantages like reduction of waste, non-hazardous treatment of waste, energy recover as well as the mitigation of environmental impacts (ibid.).

Comparing disposal with the EU waste pyramid (reuse, recycle and energy recover), incineration and landfilling is seen as the less environmentally friendly options (Finnveden et al., 2007; Murugan et al., 2013). The goal should always be to reuse,

recycle and recover before incineration or landfill (Finnveden et al., 2007). Also, incineration is newly categorized as a recovery option in the new waste hierarchy as long as the energy recovered is greater than the "designated threshold" (Grosso et al., 2010, p. 1239). The incineration tax can possibly encourage illegal dumping when too high fees or taxes of not only incineration but also landfill and PAYT systems are applied. Additionally, the incineration tax has a more increasing effect on the recycle rate instead of preventing waste at first place (Finnveden et al., 2007; Sahlin et al., 2007; Watkins et al., 2012). Additionally, incineration is seen as "an inefficient way to produce energy" and will be not the final solution to the food waste treatment or climate change in the future as well as an answer to the energy problem because as mentioned before, "incineration is one of the most common waste treatment methods, the tax still has a great influence of waste treatment in European countries and plays an important role in the achievement of the targets of the EU Waste Directive as well as changing food waste behaviour.

2.3 Landfill tax

Along with the introduced incineration tax, the landfill tax forms another marketbased and economic incentive for waste producers to minimize the quantity of waste that is transmitted to landfill in order to meet the EU Waste directive targets like "[...] to boost the energetic utilization of waste" (Skeldon et al., 2018; Chalak et al., 2016; Sommer & Ragossnig, 2011, p. 74). The tax is an environmental negative incentive paid by companies, local authorities or other waste producers for getting their waste disposed and is determined on a national level by members of the European Union (Chalak et al., 2016; Karousakis, 2006; FUSIONS, 2016; Sasao, 2014). Thus, "landfill operators are subject to the tax and costs are passed on to end user in form of higher charges" (Chalak et al., 2016, p. 419). Next to incineration, anaerobe digestion and composting, landfilling is one of the options of waste management (Cristobal et al., 2016; Thi et al., 2015). The point of the introduction of a landfill tax "[...] is to increase the unit price paid for landfill disposal, thus providing municipalities with economic incentives to reduce the amount of waste they deliver to landfills and to stimulate recycling programs" (Karousakis, 2006, p. 34; Mazzanti et al., 2012; Secondi et al., 2015). The landfill tax has contributed to the promotion of the waste hierarchy and the reduction of waste in general (Mazzanti et al., 2009).

A high landfill tax shows efforts for more sustainable waste management systems like recycling as well as greater environmental outcome and encouragement to change food waste behaviour (Karousakis, 2006; Withana et al., 2014). Higher costs of landfilling will push treating waste towards recycling and composting (Priefer et al., 2016). Even that the landfill tax is a priced-based instrument, it seems to have little impact on the quantity of waste going to landfills, which was one of the targets embedded in the EU Landfill Directive to set rates in order to fulfil the environmental targets (Karousakis, 2006; FUSIONS, 2016). But since the 1990s, landfilling of biodegradable waste is associated with concerns regarding environmental impacts because the gas methane is released during the process of decomposition (Smith et

al. 2001; Skeldon et al., 2018; Bulkeley & Gregson, 2009). Landfilling and its environmental impact as well as the separation of bio-waste and recycling are an important target and issue among Europe (Bräutigam et al., 2014). One positive effect is that the landfill tax drives waste management companies forward until the competition is satisfied (ibid.). In the year 2010, 50 per cent of bio-waste was set to landfill in the EU-27 and in some countries even up to 100 per cent (EEA, 2013; Bräutigam et al., 2014). Also, since the introduction of the Landfill tax in 1996, landfilling as waste management continued at the same levels and did not seems to influence the rate of recycling. But with the introduction of the "waste hierarchy" by the EU, governments are supposed to divert waste from landfill to "reduce, reuse, and recycle" (Bulkeley & Gregson, 2009, p. 934). There is a transition towards more sustainable practices as recycling since landfilling burry high environmental costs (Chalak et al., 2016; Cristobal et al., 2016). The waste hierarchy needs to be "prioritise prevention and redistribution of surplus food" before other waste management options like landfilling (Vittuari et al., 2016, p. 66). Changing the handling of food waste would result in less environmental impacts and consumption of resources when focussing on less landfilling and more on energy recover (Martin & Danielsson, 2016). According to the FUSIONS report (2016) the landfill tax as well as the incineration tax has a greater influence on recycling than the prevention of food waste. There is evidence that too high taxes can lead to illegal waste disposal (Karousakis, 2006; Finnveden et al., 2007; Sahlin et al., 2007; Watkins et al., 2012; FUSIONS, 2016).

Going over the charge of the tax, it is very different among Europe. For example, the tax ranges from \in 3 (per tonne) in Bulgaria up to \in 107.49 (per tonne) in the Netherlands (Watkins et al., 2012). Taking the gate fee into account, the total charge for landfill goes up to \in 155.50 in Sweden with the lowest charge of \in 17.50 in Latvia (ibid.). A clear upwards trend over the past years for the landfill tax is visible but it seems challenging to get rid of "landfilling" by only implementing higher taxes (ibid.). Comparing landfill tax with incineration tax, the charge of the landfill tax is higher in nearly every country (ibid.). The higher the landfill tax the more expensive is domestic landfilling, which also is connected to a higher expensive in landfilling residues from incineration (Olofsson et al., 2005). The main purpose of landfill and incineration taxes might be to move waste management towards recovery and recycling but they also contribute to decrease food waste (Priefer et al., 2016).

To be an effective policy instrument some requirements needs to be included according to Otles et al. (2015). The first one is a landfill ban on food waste, followed by a landfill tax that push forwards alternatives like recycling and supports diversion. Better sustainable alternatives like composting and anaerobe digestion needs further development as well as a sufficient infrastructure including a waste treatment network (Kosseva, 2013). Meeting the requirements will make landfilling an efficient treatment for food waste reduction and can also be applied for by-products of food waste (FUSIONS, 2016). But, encouraging to switch to recycling and composting will have a positive influence towards an increase in employment in the waste management sector (Withana et al., 2014). This would lead to the assumption that landfill taxes will not only contribute to decrease waste and promote more sustainable solution like recycling etc., but also contributing to the achievement of some of the SDGs as well as the targets set by the EU Waste Directive.

2.4 Pay-as-you-throw approach

In the year 2011, the European Commission has set the aim to cut avoidable food waste by half of its quantity until 2020 (Priefer et al., 2013). Additionally, a target of the European Waste Framework Directive is for member states to implement mandatory regulations to reduce and prevent food waste (ibid.). One of the possible regulations is a PAYT approach or unit pricing program, an economic incentive, to combat food waste and its consequences (Karousakis, 2006). It is designed to measure the amount or weight of food waste on mainly household level to regulate the quantity as well as works as negative price-based instrument in form of punishment (Chalak et al., 2016; Vittuari et al., 2016). The approach of the fee is to have a reducing effect on the quantity of food waste (ibid.). Thereby, the PAYT approach is set into force by the commune or municipalities as well as by private companies that are specialized into waste management (Chalak et al., 2016; Withana et al., 2014).

The approach is a very common and widely varying incentive in Europe, but only seldom implemented on a national level (Withana et al., 2014; Watkins et al., 2012). Nevertheless for a successfully implementation, a positive public opinion is needed and a "not too high fee[s]" because a high fee "[...] will lead to illegal dumping or waste burning" (Priefer et al., 2013, p. 122; Hebrok & Boks, 2017). According to the FUSIONS report the PAYT approach seems to be the most promising tool in terms of effectiveness to reduce and prevent food waste under the condition that the fees are able to pay by households but at the same time enough to change waste behaviour and encourage to engage with "separate collection systems" (Watkins et al., 2012, p. 99; Vittuari et al., 2016). The PAYT approach can also lead not only to prevent food waste but also to encourage using food that would be wasted otherwise in other ways like donation etc. (Vittuari et al., 2016). It is important, that a policy is comprehensive and applicable for all stakeholders in the food system, from primary production until waste management, to be successful (FAO, 2013).

There are four different common fees that are implemented. The first one is a fixed annual fee per household like in Catalonia (Spain) or Stuttgart (Germany) and ranges from \notin 40 to \notin 2,415. The second is a fee for purchasing refuse bags, which is implemented in Catalonia (Spain) and Stuttgart (Germany) too and costs \notin 0.65 for a 17 litre bag up to \notin 5.50 for a 70 litre bag. The third fee is per emptying of a bin and is for example implemented in Ribeauvillé (France) (\notin 0.50) or north Helsinki (Finland) (\notin 4.20) for 120 to 140 litre. Lastly, there is a weight-based fee that costs \notin 0.17 per kg in Slovakia and up to \notin 0.36 per kg in Sweden (Watkins et al., 2012). The four fees are also noun as volume-based, sack-based, frequency-based and weight-based schemes, whereas weight-based schemes are the most effective, the volume-based and frequency/sack-based schemes and lastly the volume-based scheme in terms of preventing waste (ibid.).

For a successful implementation not only a positive attitude is necessary but also a good infrastructure, which is most expensive for weight-based schemes but also have greater results (ibid.). For example in Sweden, municipalities gathered 20 per cent less waste of households per citizen than municipalities without a PAYT scheme (Priefer et al., 2016). It is necessary that regions are cooperating to bring PAYT schemes forward in form for example of campaigns about waste management like PAYT schemes to educate the public and reduce waste in the long run (Watkins et al., 2012). This would lead to positive environmental effects like growing recycling rates and "overall waste prevention" (Holmes et al., 2014, p. 56; Dahlén & Lagerkvist, 2010; Dunne et al., 2008; FUSIONS, 2016). But also in economic terms for example "collection and treatment costs are adjusted to the weight treated" and socially because households are charged after the quantity of waste (Aramyan et al., 2016, p. 27). PAYT schemes seem to increase recycling more than having an effect on the reduction of waste (FUSIONS, 2016; Giovanis, 2015). According to a paper by Giovanis (2015) PAYT schemes have a favourable effect on air quality and along with the findings of Priefer et al., (2016), PAYT schemes seems to have an average recycling rate of 33.75 per cent in comparison to municipalities without a PAYT scheme (25.68 per cent).

To summarise, PAYT schemes seem to have a positive effect on the environment, which leads to a decreasing demand for new disposal facilities (Bilitewski, 2008; Reichenbach, 2008). But in order to be able to successfully implement the PAYT approach the aim should be to create a standard criteria at municipal level to use this tool effectively and "modify the economic behaviour" (FUSIONS, 2016, p. 30). The approach needs to be seen individually from "[...] similar policies to avoid the 'double counting' of improvements in waste management performance" (Watkins et al., 2012, p. 100). Lastly, the PAYT approach is a tool to achieve the target of the EU Waste Directive and therefore an instrument that will contribute to the achievement of the SDGs 2030, especially target 12.3.

Policies		Pros and Cons	Countries included in this study
Incineration tax	Tax and gate fee	Pros: Commonly used with food waste and good for the possibilities with bio- fuel. More environmental friendly Cons: Expensive	Sweden, Austria, Ire- land, Norway, Spain
Landfill tax	Tax and gate fee	Pros: Most commonly used and easy to apply Cons: Less Environmental friendly	Greece, Hungary, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Slovakia, Es- tonia

Table 1. Overview of the Policy's characteristics

Policies		Pros and Cons	Countries included in this study
Pay-as-you- throw approach	 fixed annual fee per household fee for purchasing re fuse bags per emptying of a bin weight-based fee 	Mainly household level Pros: More environmen- tally friendly Cons: Not as much used as the other two policies	France, Ireland, Italy, Poland, UK, Slovakia

3 Literature review and Conceptual Framework

In this chapter, the literature review will be presented of studies regarding food waste and policy instruments to reduce food waste, following by the conceptual framework to assess and analyse the research questions.

3.1 Literature review

There is a growing literature body discussing waste in general, and food waste in particular. In this work, the focus is on literature addressing the impact of policy instruments on the reduction of food waste around the world and especially in EU. To get a better overview, the literature review will be separated into studies about food waste in general, EU studies on food waste in general and in regard to reduction of food waste as well as the three different policy instruments, the landfill tax, the incineration and the pay-as-you-throw approach.

3.1.1 General studies on food waste

Starting with the studies about food waste, the literature addresses mainly the household level to analyse food waste behaviour. There are in-depth studies about food waste in developed countries (Griffin et al., 2009; Mena et al., 2011; Sonnino & McWilliam, 2011; Buzby and Hyman, 2012; Beretta et al., 2013; Garrone et al., 2014). Some of the papers about food waste try to identify behavioural causes of food waste with the help of surveys and interviews (Graham-Rowe et al., 2015; Jorissen et al., 2015; Neff et al., 2015; Parizeau et al., 2015). Also, Otles et al. (2015) include the management of food waste, valorisation as well as brings up the topic of sustainability in the food industry. This will be a challenging task to achieve in the future. Another very relevant aspect is the measurement of food waste to evaluate the impact food supply chains to change by 2050. Since, food waste mainly occurs at the end of the value chain in developed countries, Chalak et al. (2018), quantified the amount of food waste of the hospitality as well as the food retail sector from developed economies. The study was approached from a national perspective and included policy instruments like a legislative framework, awareness campaigns and fiscal incentives which are essential to implement for food waste reduction.

3.1.2 EU studies on food waste and studies on food waste reduction

Since the European Commission introduced the Waste Directive, several countries started to address the issue of food waste and integrated policy instruments in their national targets. There are several studies that discuss the quantity of food waste in the EU and make a distinction across the member states (Bräutigam et al., 2014; Priefer et al., 2016; Watkins et al., 2012; Cristóbal et al., 2016). It is hard to compare the findings of the studies since there is no unified definition on food waste on which scholars agree upon; and the measurement methods differ between the studies (Garrone et al., 2014; Bräutigam et al., 2014; Thyberg & Tonjes, 2016). There are empirical studies on EU member states like the UK (Cox & Downing, 2007; Williams et al., 2011; Ventour, 2008), the Netherlands (Soethoudt & Timmermans, 2013; Thönissen, 2010), Denmark (Stenmarck et al., 2011), Sweden (Jensen et al., 2011), Finland (Katajajuuri et al., 2011) as well as Norway (Hanssen & Møller, 2013; Møller et al., 2012). Additionally, there are national surveys on food waste in Austria (Obersteiner & Schneider, 2006; Schneider & Lebersorger, 2009), Germany (Göbel et al., 2012; Kranert et al., 2012), Switzerland (Beretta et al., 2013) as well as France (Viel & Prigent, 2011), Italy (BCFN, 2012; Garrone et al., 2012), Portugal (Baptista, 2012), Spain/Catalonia (ARC, 2012) and Greece (Abeliotis et al., 2014). But studies on countries from Southern and Eastern Europe are very rare (Bräutigam et al., 2014).

Additionally, there were studies found that discussed policy instruments like taxes, subsidies etc. to reduce food waste in the EU. The paper by Finnveden et al. (2013) discusses the implementation of tax incentives in Sweden. Also, the paper by Marques et al. (2013) gives evidence about the impact of policy instruments in Portugal and Cossu & Masi (2013) in Italy. Literature from developing and developed countries regarding food waste reduction can also be found by Kusch & Evoh (2013) as well as in the paper by Kim (2002) with a good example of the establishment of taxes in Korea for reducing waste. The impact of policy instruments, like direct payments or subsidies in Sweden, can be found in the paper by Andersson & Stage (2018). It is also included in the paper by Finnveden et al. (2013) utilising the data from the Swedish Waste Management Association, Kolada and Statistics Sweden (SCB). Andersson & Stage (2018) are also discussing the impact of tariffs that is taking into account by the paper of Marques et al. (2018) for Portugal. Furthermore, the paper by Kusch & Evoh (2013) analyses both developing and developed countries regarding the effectiveness of tariffs. Another policy instrument that has been discussed in the literature are new technologies that can have possibly a significant influence on the decreasing of food waste. That means, that new technologies can create a more sustainable solution in the future, which is discussed by the paper by Bulkeley & Gregson (2009) for the UK and Andersson & Stage (2018) for Sweden. In comparison to the previously mentioned papers, Bulkeley & Gregson (2009) are also including infrastructure and quotas as policy instruments and as well as Kim

(2002) discuss the impact of direct regulations. Additionally Lee et al. (2007, p. 43) are assessing the effectiveness of policies for "separate food waste collection and volume-based charge system" in Korea.

3.1.3 Studies of the incineration tax, landfill tax and the PAYT approach

Going over to the policy instruments that were chosen to analyse in this thesis, different scholars are discussing the effectiveness of the landfill tax, incineration tax and the pay-as-you-throw approach on food waste behaviour. Skeldon et al. (2018) chose agent-based modelling to predict the outcome of policy in regard to food waste for the UK. The paper by Chalak et al. (2016) is analysing in a cross-country analysis the effectiveness of the three different policy instruments, trying to identify the economic determinants that influence household food waste. There were three papers found that included the landfill tax into their research (Eriksson et al., 2015; Finnveden et al., 2007; Ljunggren Söderman et al., 2016). Thus the paper by Eriksson et al. (2015) did a case study to assess the carbon footprint of the different levels of the waste hierarchy to manage waste. The other two papers focussed on the effectiveness of policy instruments and strategies to reduce waste in Sweden. Additionally, the paper by Kiss & Drescher (2014) did a similar study for Hungary and Mazzanti et al. (2009, 2011, 2012) performed a regression analysis using panel data looking at the landfill tax and other influences and their impact on food waste in regions of Italy. A paper by Sasao (2014) also performed a study using panel data to look at a waste management solution from Japan. A more comprehensive and comparable study was undertaken by Sommer & Ragossnig (2011), that compared and analysed the EU 27 in terms of their waste management practices with energy recover, including the landfill tax. Regarding the studies on the effectiveness of the incineration tax, different literature were found. Thereby, the paper by Chalak et al. (2016) and Eriksson et al. (2015) included not only the landfill tax into their assessment but also the incineration tax as well as the PAYT approach in the paper of Chalak et al. (2016). Some studies looked at the incineration tax from the EU level to identify new solutions for waste management in order to food secure the growing population (Watkins et al., 2012; FUSIONS, 2016; Ljunggren Söderman et al., 2016; Priefer et al., 2013). Also, Sahlin et al. (2007) took a national perspective and analysed the effect of the incineration tax on the waste streams in Sweden. In contrast, Olofsson et al. (2005) that focussed on energy recovery from waste in Sweden, where incineration is playing a role in it, especially when member states are trying to implement the circular economy package of the EU. Because of that target, several member countries are integrating other waste management strategies, following the waste hierarchy, that are more environmentally friendly like the PAYT approach. Therefore, several scholars are analysing the performance of new waste management solutions and propose policy frameworks for the EU and OECD member states (Vittuari et al., 2016; Karousakis, 2006; Watkins et al., 2012; FUSIONS, 2016; Priefer et al., 2013). There is still a huge knowledge gap about the outcome and effect of taxes and fees like the landfill tax, incineration tax and the PAYT approach (Schanes et al., 2018).

3.2 Conceptual framework

Based on the results of the literature review, a conceptual model was developed to examine the impact of policy instruments on food waste in the EU. Specifically, the framework was designed to conceptualise the relationship of these policies on food waste reduction, while accounting also for other factors/variables that may influence this connection. Taking a look at the prior literature, most studies are analysing the impact of policy instruments mainly on a household level or doing an in-depth study on one stage of the food chain as well as drivers and consequences of food waste. This thesis is taking a different path of assessing the impact of policy instruments on the reduction of food waste by creating a comprehensive framework that seeks to simplify the relationship of different socio-economic variables towards food waste.

To start with the control variables, different socio-economic variables were chosen as visible in Figure 2. Based on the literature (Secondi et al., 2015; Dithmer & Abdulai, 2017), the consumer producer index (CPI) shows a great influence on the quantity of food waste and needs to be included into the model. This also counts for the Gross domestic product (GDP) per capita, which is an economic indicator standing for the wealth of a country and has therefore an influence on food waste (Mak et al., 2020; Dithmer & Abdulai, 2017; Sommer & Ragossnig, 2011; Miliute-Plepiene & Plepys, 2015). It is calculated as the amount of the gross value of the whole population of an economy including product taxes minus subsidies (Faostat, 2019). The third control variable shown in Figure 2 is urban density and represents the number of people living per square kilometre in a country. This is a significant variable since some studies show results that indicate high likelihood of food waste in urban areas than in rural areas (Secondi et al., 2015). The last included control variable of the framework is waste management accounting for the amount of capital a country invest to reduce waste or food waste. It can be expected that countries that invest more capital in waste management should have less waste. According to the model, the control variables are supposed to have a positive or negative impact on the efficiency of policy instruments and thus on the variable of interest, food waste.

The policy instruments, incineration tax, landfill tax and the PAYT approach, are visualised in the middle of the framework. All three policies have a direct influence on the amount of food waste in a country. It is expected that all three policies will reduce food waste since the taxes and fees are implemented to combat waste from the EU (Schanes et al., 2018). That means that the policies are tools by the EU, which are influenced by the control variables as well as other environmental, social and economic indicators, excluded by this framework, that will increase or decrease the impact on the reduction of food waste in a member state in the EU. The last variable in the conceptual framework is the dependent variables have a direct effect on the policies, impacting on the quantity on food waste. The conceptual model explained and visualise very well the connection and relationships that will be explained

later on by the regression model and what results will be expected. It gives an overview on the variables included in the model and how the path of influence flows. In summary, the control variables affect the independent variables (policies), which affect the variable of interest.



Figure 2. Conceptual Framework for analysing the impact of independent variables on food waste

4 Empirical Model and Data

In this chapter, the empirical model and the chosen data will be presented as well as an overview of a description of the variables included in the model.

4.1 Model Specification

In order to answer the two research questions of this thesis, the following multiple regression model was used. In Equation (1), the standard multiple regression equation is presented, integrating indicator variables (x) that should have an explanatory power on Y as well as the error term (ε).

(1)
$$Y = b_0 + bx_1 + bx_2 + bx_3 + bx_4 + bx_5 + \varepsilon$$

With the result of the literature review, different variables were found that would be relevant to include into the regression analysis. The focus was to utilise variables that are widely used and have shown an effect on the amount of food waste in the EU, but also for better comparability on a global perspective. In several studies, socio-economic variables were included in the model and have shown to have an impact on food waste behaviour (Milieue-Plepiene & Plepys, 2015). The variable "Population density (PD)" was included, which contributes to analysing the research questions. The variable "PD" is a very common variable for assessing the impact of policies or food waste behaviour (Mazzanti et al., 2011 Cerciello et al., 2019). Additionally, the economic variables "CPI" (Secondi et al., 2015; Dithmer & Abdulai, 2017) and "GDP per capita" (Ederveen et al., 2006; Mak et al., 2020; Miliute-Plepiene & Plepys, 2015) were chosen to have a significant influence on the quantity of food waste. According to the World Bank (2019), the CPI accounts for the change of cost that a consumer needs to acquire for a "[...] basket of goods and services that may be fixed or changed at specified intervals, such as yearly". The GDP per capita is the GDP of a country divided by the midyear population. Both variables represent numbers for the level of income and wealth in a country, whereas the CPI represents an index and is thus measured in percentage and the GDP per capita is in US Dollar. Along with the independent variables "PD", "CPI" and "GDP per capita", the variable "Waste management (WM)" could be found several times in literature (Secondi et al., 2015; Mazzanti et al., 2012). It accounts for the amount of capital a country is spending on waste management. The variables is measured in US Dollar. In order to assess the impact of policies on the amount of food waste in the EU, the three chosen policies "incineration tax", "landfill tax" and the PAYT approach were included as dummy variables. If the policies were implemented in the years, (a "yes"), the policy instrument is equal to 1 whereas a "no" equalled 0. This will show insight regarding the influence of the policy instrument on food waste, positive or negative. Because the research questions are not only a matter of social and economic interest but also on environmental interest, a variety of variables were included, covering all three pillars of sustainable development. The "CPI" and "GDP per capita" are serving the economic pillar, while the "PD" the social and the "WM" the environmental pillar. Having introduced the independent variables, they will have an influence on the dependent variable "Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste" that accounts for food waste (FW) in the EU and is measured in tonnes.

Thus, the dependent variable Y in Equation (2) is covering the Animal and Food waste, vegetable waste (FW) in the EU in the period of time (t). The independent variables x_1 is "CPI", x_2 is "GDP per capita", x_3 is "PD", x_4 is "WM" and x_5 expresses the dummy variables "incineration tax", "landfill tax " and "PAYT" in the period (t). The variables "GDP per capita", "WM" and "Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste (FW)" are represented logarithmic for better results. The model ranges in the period (t) from 2004 until 2016, every other year. The end of Equation (2) forms the error term (ε), be accountable for errors and residuals that could not be included into the model.

(2)
$$\hat{y}_t = b_{0t} + b_1 * CPI + b_2 * Log(GDP \ per \ capita) + b_3 * PD + b_4 * Log(WM) + b_5 * Dummy \ variable (Policy) + \varepsilon$$

The Equation (2) aims at finding significant results that will allow to draw conclusions of the impact of policy instruments on the reduction of food waste in the EU as well as how and why the impact of the policy instruments differs across the investigated countries.

4.2 Data

During the research for variables that have an influence of food waste behaviour, different database were explored. Table 1 gives an overview of the different variables, their definitions as well as units and data sources. The main database was EUROSTAT, were the data for the dependent variable "FW" as well as the independent variable "WM" are based on. The variable "FW" stands for the amount of food waste in the member countries of the EU and is measured in tonnes. The database offers access to data on topics related to food and agriculture as well as trade about the European countries. It is free to access and its website combines data from surveys and reports (EU, 2019). Additionally, the exchange rate from Euro to US Dollar from the ECB was used to calculate the amount of capital countries are spending

on "WM". This was necessary to unify the currencies to make the variables comparable and transparent for the model. The data from the variables "CPI" and "PD" were found on the database of the World Bank. The other independent variable "GDP per capita" is based on the data found from the database of FAOSTAT. It is the database of the FAO and "provides free access to food and agriculture data for over 245 countries and territories and covers all FAO regional groupings from 1961 to the most recent year available" (FAOSTAT, 2020). While looking for sufficient variables, that can be included in the model, it was not easy to find data on the mentioned variables above and the time period was limited to the years 2004-2016, providing data for only every two years. Also, other databases like OECD database, trading economics as well as national databases were analysed to find more sufficient variables. There were more variables that are connected to the issue of food waste, but did not fit into the model.

Variable	Label	Operational definition	Measurement unit Data	
Incineration tax	IT	Incineration tax is a fee to re- duce waste in the EU	Dummy variable	
Landfill tax	LT	Landfill tax is a fee to reduce waste in the EU	Dummy variable	
Pay-as-you-throw	PAYT	Pay-as-you-throw is a unit- price system for waste man- agement	Dummy variable	
Consumer price index	CPI	changes in the cost to the av- erage consumer of acquiring a basket of goods and ser- vices that may be fixed or changed at specified intervals	percentage (2010 = 100)	The world bank
GDP per capita	GDP	GDP per capita is gross do- mestic product divided by midyear population. GDP is the sum of gross value added by all resident producers in the economy plus any prod- uct taxes	US Dollar	FAOSTAT
Population density	PD	Population density is midyear population divided by land area in square kilometres.	people per sq. km of land area	The world bank
Waste Manage- ment	WM	Amount of capital spend by countries on waste management	US Dollar	EUROSTAT; Eu- ropean Central Bank (ECB)
Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste	FW	Generation of Animal and Food waste and vegetable waste	tonnes	EUROSTAT

Table 2. Variables Description, Measurement and Data sources

4.3 Limitations

Going over to the quality of the data that was chosen for this research, several limitations need to be stated. First of all, there is no unified methodology across the countries, leaving it free for the member countries "to decide on the methods [they use] for data collection" (Bräutigam et al., 2014, p. 685). Accordingly to the FU-SIONS report, there are limitations in regard to the reliability of EUROSTAT and national data as well as that there are several methodologies of the food waste data that get reported to EUROSTAT across the member states. This is not only causing a lack of reliability but more importantly a lack of clarity, which might be significant in regard of the results (FUSIONS, 2014, p. 97). It might cause incongruences that will have a limiting effect on the power of the results and the conclusion (Chalak et al., 2016). Thus the "food waste generation in EU-27 differ significantly, depending on the data sources chosen and the assumptions made (Bräutigam et al., 2014, p. 693). Nevertheless, there will be an improvement expected of the EUROSTAT data in the upcoming FUSIONS project that focusses on the data to form a comprehensive European framework for more transparency (ibid.). To not only achieve more reliable data and international standards, but also to clarify the term "food waste" across the member states, a unified definition should be developed to build the basis for further research (Bräutigam et al., 2014; Dahlén et al., 2009). Since this thesis is taking a macro perspective on the quantity of food waste and the impact policy instruments will have on it, it might will overlook some micro determinants "that include, but not limited to, socio-economic household characteristics, and would include cultural predispositions, behavioural and attitudinal patterns and environmental awareness" (Chalak et al., 2016, p. 422). A larger panel data would also contribute to a higher quality in regard to the results, but was not possible due to the data from EUROSTAT. But since there is no unified definition and the term food waste is still causing several debates, the "existing researches are difficult to compare" (Gjerris & Gaiani, 2013, p. 20). This limitations are demanding a greater effort to improve the methods and collection of data across the EU members to unify the term "food waste" and make the outcomes of research studies more transparent and reliable (Jörissen et al., 2015).

5 Results and Discussion

The empirical results and a discussion about the validity and impact of the results will be presented in this chapter.

5.1 Empirical results

The empirical results of the regression analysis are divided into three chapters, the three policies (Incineration tax, Landfill tax, PAYT), for a better discussion and overview. Thus, it seems reasonable to look at the correlation of the variables first to better analyse and interpret the results. In the analysis the Pearson's Correlations Coefficient was chosen to analyse the relationship between the variables included into the model.

In Table 11 in the Appendix, the results of the relationships between the variables are shown. Thus, the variable "GDP per capita" and "CPI" have proven to have an extremely insignificant positive correlation in all three models. This means that there is no relationship between the amounts of "GDP per capita" and the "CPI" in the member states. The "PD" and the "CPI" can also be characterised by an insignificant positive relationship regarding the analysis of the incineration tax, landfill tax and the PAYT approach. Taking a look at the variables "WM" and "CPI", an extremely insignificant negative correlation is found for the incineration tax but a positive relationship for the landfill tax and PAYT approach. Going over to the variables "GDP per capita" and "PD", the variables have an insignificant negative correlation in the model of the incineration tax and an extremely insignificant positive correlation in the model of the PAYT approach. There is an insignificant positive correlation between the "GDP per capita" and the "PD" in the results of the landfill tax. The relationship between the variables "GDP per capita" and "WM" show the results of an insignificant negative correlation for the model of the incineration tax, but a moderate positive correlation for the model of the landfill tax. Regarding the results for the model of the PAYT approach, the results show an insignificant positive correlation. However, the results of the correlation of the variables "PD" and "WM" are expected to be correlated, since the "PD" seems to have an influence on the amount of capital countries spend on waste management. Looking at the results, an insignificant negative correlation is shown for the model for the incineration tax.

Still, in the other two models of the landfill tax and the PAYT approach a highly significant positive correlation is the result. This means that the higher the "PD" is in the member states, the more "WM" occurs.

5.1.1 Results of the Incineration tax model

Passing over to the first model after showing the correlation results, the quantity of food waste in the countries included in the model of the incineration tax are visible in Figure 3. It can be seen, that Sweden, Austria, Ireland and Norway are producing similar amounts of food waste annually. In contrast to them is Spain, which have a higher quantity of food waste that can be due to different influencing factors (i.e. the amount of production and infrastructure). All member states have a decreasing or consisting trend in terms of quantity of food waste in the period of 2004 until 2016. Taking a closer look at Austria, a peak is visible in the year 2008 with a significant upwards trend in the following two years. This can be because of the Waste Directive Framework that was published in 2008 or also because of the financial crisis at that time (APSE, 2013).



Figure 3. Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste of the countries that implemented the incineration tax during the period 2004-2016. (Source: EUROSTAT, 2020)

For a better comparison of the results and interpretation, the countries that have implemented the incineration tax in the period between 2004 until 2016 were categorised according to their level of income in Table 2. As seen in Table 2, Austria and Norway have a high level of income that means the median equivalised net income was higher or equal to $\notin 23,000$ in 2016. Having a high level of income can indicate for better waste management performance due to better prerequisites regarding infrastructure, education etc. (Zen et al., 2014). Moreover, Sweden and Ireland are categorised as middle to high level of income countries, which stands for

that the countries had a median equivalised net income of $\notin 16,500$ up to $\notin 23,000$ in 2016. Spain is representing a middle income country that had a median equivalised net income of $\notin 10,000$ to $\notin 16,500$ in 2016. Showing that Spain has a lower level of income than the countries could also be a possible explanation for their waste performance because it cannot invest as capital as the other countries into waste management. According to Zen et al. (2014), higher income and higher educational backgrounds resulted in a more general positive attitude towards the environment.

Country	Level of income	Year of implementation
Sweden	Middle/High	2006-2010 (Watkins et al., 2012)
Austria	High	2006 (Ettlinger & Bapasola, 2016)
Ireland	Middle/High	2010 (Clarke, 2010)
Norway	High	1999-2010 (Papineschi et al., 2019)
Spain	Middle	2009 (Puig Ventosa, 2011)

Table 3. Countries' level of income and year of implementation of the incineration tax

After the categorisation of the countries that are included in the model of the incineration tax, Table 12, which can be found in the Appendix, presents the descriptive statistics of the variables divided by the countries. Thus, the differences between the countries are visible. It can be noted that Sweden and Norway have a very low population density compared to the other countries.

The first results are presenting the impact of the incineration tax as a policy instrument on the quantity of food waste in Sweden, Austria, Ireland, Norway and Spain. All countries are categorised into level of income that will be taken into consideration when interpreting the results. Starting with the regressions results shown in Table 3, the R^2 is of all countries is very high, meaning that nearly all variance of the dependent variable that can be explained by the independent variables, respectably 76.5 per cent in the regression analysis of Sweden up to 99 per cent in the regression analysis of Austria. Also, the adjusted R² is high in Austria, Ireland, Norway and Spain but negative for Sweden. This means that there is an insignificance of explanatory variables which would be changed by higher sample size or avoiding correlation of independent variables. In terms of independent variables, the incineration tax was integrated into the model as a dummy variable and was expected to have a negative effect on the quantity of food waste. In Table 3, it is shown that the results of Ireland (-1.168) and Norway (-1.195) are meeting the expectations and the incineration tax has a decreasing effect on food waste. This results are also reflected in the paper by Chalak et al. (2018), where they found that frameworks, awareness campaigns and incentives will reduce food waste. Nevertheless, for Sweden (0.013), Austria (0.188) and Spain (0.093) it shows the opposite. The results show that the implementation of the incineration tax is increasing the amount of food waste for all three countries, even if only slightly. For Italy, incineration has no influence on food waste as found out by Mazzanti et al. (2012).

The "CPI" is expected to have an increasing effect on the amount of food waste since a higher consumer price index can indicate for more wealth in a country which

has been shown to have negative effect on food waste (Mak et al., 2020; Cox & Downing, 2007; WasteMinz, 2014). In the results of the "CPI" of Sweden (-0.012), Austria (-0.136), Ireland (-0.146) and Spain (-0.030), the coefficients show a negative impact on the amount of food waste which is contrary to expected results. None-theless, it shows that the "CPI" has a negative effect on food waste, which is positive for sustainable development. The results of the analysis of Norway (0.302) show the opposite, in that analysis the "CPI" has an increasing effect on food waste, which fits the expectation.

For the other economic variable "GDP per capita", the expectation was to have also an increasing effect because a wealthier population is more likely to waste food (Cox and Downing, 2007; WasteMinz, 2014). According to Miliute-Plepiene & Plepys (2013) the "GDP per capita" has a significant influence on the quantity of food waste. In the results, the "GDP per capita" has an increasing effect on the quantity of food waste for Sweden (0.001), Austria (26.261) and Spain (1.400). The value is small for Sweden and Spain but very high for Austria. That means that in Austria, the "GDP per capita" has a significant influence on the quantity of food waste. A decreasing effect is presented for Ireland (-5.877) and Norway (-0.186).

Looking at the "PD", it is expected to have a negative effect on incineration which means that urban areas are characterised by less food waste that is incinerated (Gnolonfin et al., 2016). Thus, "PD" is expected to have a decreasing effect in countries with a high population density. This stands in contrast to the results by Dahlén et al (2009) where more population density correlated with higher amounts of household waste per capita. This result is also shared by Dithmer & Abdulai (2017, p. 227), which found out that "[...] a high rural population share, high population growth and inflation negatively affect food security". The results indicate that it has an increasing effect for Sweden (0.069), Austria (0.283), Ireland (0.385) and Spain (0.071). For Sweden and Ireland the results seem reasonable since their "PD" is lower than that of Austria and Spain. Additionally, the results for Norway (-5.348) indicate a negative coefficient, which is unusual since the population density is low. According to Banerjee & Sarkhel (2010), "PD" has a significant influence in waste management and economic development of a country. In the results of the paper by Usui & Takeuchi (2014), population density does not have significant effect in the equations.

Additionally, the results of the regression analysis regarding the incineration tax are characterised by both negative and positive coefficient towards the independent variable "WM". Therefore, the country analysis of Sweden (0.576), Ireland (0.152) and Norway (3.522) present positive coefficients. That means that "WM" is encouraging the quantity of food waste instead of diminishing it. For Austria (-18.422) and Spain (-2.037) the coefficient is negative, leading to a decrease of food waste. This would be the expected result and also the reason for countries to manage waste as well as apply economic incentives in general. Taking the standard deviation into account, the values are very low.

	Sweden	Austria	Ireland	Norway	Spain
Incineration tax	0.013**	0.188	-1.168	-1.195	0.093*
CPI	-0.012**	-0.136	-0.146	0.302	-0.030**
LOG GDP per capita	0.001***	26.261	-5.877	-0.186	1.400
PD	0.069*	0.283	0.385	-5.348	0.071*
LOG WM	0.576	-18.422	0.152	3.522	-2.037
SD	0.025**	0.014**	0.129	0.046**	0.014**
R ²	0.765	0.999	0.944	0.974	0.998
Adjusted R ²	-0.412	0.992	0.664	0.847	0.990

Table 4. Regression results of the countries that implemented the incineration tax

In Table 4, the empirical results of the countries that have implemented the incineration tax are presented. Thus, taking a deeper look at the p-values of the different variables result in different conclusions. For the regression results of Sweden, the p-value of all independent variables are insignificant. That means, that a higher pvalue than 0.10 is not statistically significant and results in accepting the null hypothesis and rejecting the alternative hypothesis. For the other countries like Austria, the intercept (0.037) and the control variables "CPI" (0.037), "GDP per capita" (0.043), "PD" (0.037) and "WM" (0.050) are significant on a 90 per cent level of confidence. That means that the results are statistically relevant and indicates to reject the null hypothesis. The p-values of the control variables and the intercept of the analysis from Ireland and Norway are statistically insignificant with higher pvalues than 0.10. The country analysis from Spain shows different results. The control variable "CPI" has a p-value of 0.075 and is thus significant on a 90 per cent level of confidence. Taking all results from the regression analysis into account, there is no proof that level of income has an influence on the empirical results. Therefore, the level of income is not connected to the waste management performance of the countries included that implemented the incineration tax. Nevertheless, it can be said that the conditions of the member states as well as their economic situation like income "which increases environmental awareness" varies (Giovanis, 2015, p. 201).

Country		Intercept	Incinera- tion tax	СРІ	LOG GDP per capita	PD	LOG WM
Sweden	Regressors	0.646	0.013**	-0.012**	0.001***	0.069*	0.025**
	p-value	0.963	0.774	0.723	0.994	0.659	0.708
Austria	Regressors	-135.875	0.188	-0.136	26.261	0.283	-18.422
	p-value	0.037**	0.205	0.037**	0.043**	0.037**	0.050**
Ireland	Regressors	58.311	-1.168	-0.146	-5.877	0.385	0.152
	p-value	0.293	0.356	0.229	0.329	0.294	0.631
Norway	Regressors	19.122	-1.195	0.302	-0.186	-5.348	3.522

Table 5. Empirical results of the models of the countries that implemented the incineration tax

Country		Intercept	Incinera- tion tax	CPI	LOG GDP per capita	PD	LOG WM
	p-value	0.280	0.273	0.273	0.470	0.263	0.223
Spain	Regressors	8.516	0.093*	-0.030**	1.400	0.071*	-2.037
	p-value	0.207	0.336	0.075*	0.286	0.157	0.182

* denotes significance at the 90% level of confidence

**denotes significance at the 95% level of confidence

***denotes significance at the 99% level of confidence

5.1.2 Landfill tax

With the Waste Directive of the EU, several countries implemented policies into their waste management to achieve the targets of the EU. Thus, the landfill tax serves as economic incentive to combat food waste in several member countries like Greece, Norway, Estonia, and Hungary, Portugal as well as the Netherlands, Slovakia and several others. Nevertheless, the aim is the waste hierarchy instead of landfilling to avoid the environmental consequences and provide a more sustainable solution for future waste management. In Figure 4, the amount of food waste in the mentioned countries is present in the period from 2004 until 2016. It can be noted, that the quantity of food waste ranges between 37.066 up to 2.785.642 tonnes in the countries: Greece, Norway, Hungary, Portugal, Slovakia and Estonia. Even that there is a higher volatility between the years and countries, the most significant number comes from the Netherlands. In comparison to the other countries that have introduced the landfill tax the Netherlands have a quantity of around eleven Million tonnes of food waste annually. That number seems very high and it might be possible that there are differences in the definition and measurement of food waste across the countries. The data is gathered by the EUROSTAT database. It is important to have a critical view on the results because of the contrast in quantity of food waste.



Figure 4. Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste of the countries that implemented the landfill tax during the period 2004-2016. (Source: EUROSTAT, 2020)

The landfill tax was categorised regarding the level of income, shown in Table 5. The year of implementation was given to be able to integrate the landfill tax as a dummy variable into the regression analysis. Hence, Greece, Slovakia and Estonia are categorised as low income countries, meaning that the median equivalised net income was less than €10,000 in 2016. Additionally, Hungary and Portugal are middle income countries according to the categorisation of EUROSTAT. This means the median equivalised net income was between €10,000 and €16,500 in 2016. The Netherlands were the only country that was categorised as a high income country (>€23,000) and Norway the only country categorised as a high income country of level of income countries is given, making it possible to draw conclusions between level of income and waste management performance as well as categorise the findings.

Country	Level of income	Year of implementation
Greece	Low	2014 (CEWEP, 2017)
Hungary	Middle	2013 (ibid.)
Netherlands	Middle/High	1995-2012 (ibid.)
Norway	High	1999-2015 (Papineschi et al., 2019)
Portugal	Middle	2007 (CEWEP, 2017)
Slovakia	Low	2014 (ibid.)
Estonia	Low	2005 (ibid.)

Table 6. Countries' level of income and year of implementation of the landfill tax

In Table 13 in the Appendix, the descriptive statistics of the countries that implemented the landfill tax in the period 2004-2016 are presented. The differences between the control variables that have an impact on the implementation of the landfill tax as well as on the food waste in total are visible. Having the level of income in mind it seems obvious that countries with a low level of income like Greece, Slovakia and Estonia are investing less capital in waste management. This is the case for Slovakia and Estonia but not for Greece. Therefore, the results have to be analysed carefully to not draw wrong conclusions.

The implementation of the landfill tax was one of the earliest solutions to combat food waste thus more countries could have been included in the model to see how much of an impact the landfill tax will have on food waste. In Table 6, the regression results are shown. All R^2 of the analysis from the countries are very high and close to one, which would indicate that almost all of the variance of the dependent variable that can be explained by the independent variables. The values vary from 86.8 per cent in the case of Estonia up to 99.9 per cent in the case of Slovakia and the Netherlands as presented in Table 6. Also, the adjusted R^2 is high as well, except for Estonia which has a value of 0.207, which means that 20.7 per cent of total variance of the dependent variable can be explained by the model. The value is still sufficient for taking the results into account. Introducing a policy instrument like the landfill tax is connected to some constraints like if the population's income level is enough to be able to afford the high tax to manage the waste (Kiss et al., 2014). Looking at the regression results of the impact of the landfill tax, the tax has a decreasing effect on food waste in the models of Hungary (-0.155), Norway (-0.561) and Portugal (-0.082) but an increasing effect on food waste in the models of Greece (0.394), the Netherlands (0.010), Slovakia (0.076) and Estonia (1.844). The value for the model of the Netherlands is really small (0.010), so it can almost be seen that the landfill tax is having no significant influence on the quantity of food waste. This was also the result by Mazzanti et al. (2012) for Italy. Thus, incineration and landfilling have no significant influence on the amount of food waste in Italy, which represent a middle income country.

The "CPI" is having a negative coefficient, decreasing the quantity of food waste in the models of Greece (-0.007), Hungary (-0.003), Portugal (-0.030) and Estonia (-0.058). Nonetheless, the influence is minimal and has only a slight impact on the quantity of food waste. The "CPI" has a positive coefficient for the models of the Netherlands (0.002), Norway (0.046) and Slovakia (0.009). This means that the "CPI" has an increasing effect, leading to higher amounts of waste. A high change in the costs for consumer to buy goods in service will result in volatility and can lead to panic buying that can result in an increase of wasted food.

Additionally to this economic variable, the "GDP per capita" takes an essential role of assessing the impact of policy instruments and their effect on the quantity of food waste (Miliute-Plepiene & Plepys, 2013; Miliute and Staniski, 2010). The results show that the "GDP per capita" has a negative coefficient for the models of Greece (-2.837), the Netherlands (-0.232) and Estonia (-0.719). The values are not very high but still have a decreasing effect that make them significant when multiplied with the amount of food waste. This results can also found in the paper by Dithmer & Abdulai (2017), where the "GDP per capita" is showing to have a positive effect on the reduction of food waste. The models for Hungary (0.252), Portugal (0.291), Norway (0.291) and Slovakia (2.172) have positive coefficients. In the paper by Ederveen et al. (2006) and De Weerdt et al. (2020) the results regarding the "GDP per capita" reflect a negative effect on waste management. That means, that the "GDP per capita" will increase the amount of food waste instead of minimising it. It is interesting to see that the results include different levels of income countries where the variable "GDP per capita" has an increasing effect. It seems that countries with low level of income will have less food waste than countries with higher levels of income because a wealthier population might care less about the food that is wasted. This could be because they can afford more food and are not as concerned about wasted food as a population that cannot afford an excess of food and has to be more conscious (Cox and Downing, 2007; WasteMinz, 2014).

Going over to the social variable "PD", the results in Table 6 are very different across the member states. According to the literature, the "PD" had a negative impact on food waste in Italy (Mazzanti et al., 2011) and Japan (Usui & Takeuchi, 2014) but a positive effect in France (Gnolonfin, 2016) and the US (Giovanis, 2015). Johnstone and Labonne (2004) came to the same results in their study about the

OECD countries. They assessed the amount of household solid waste and discovered that "PD" has a positive effect on it. Another paper by Mazzanti et al. (2008) and Mazzanti and Zoboli (2008) had the opposite findings. According to these papers and Hage and Söderholm (2008), the variable "PD" has an increasing effect on municipal waste in Italy and the EU25. Looking at the results in Table 9, the regression analysis of the Netherlands (-0.001), Norway (-0.274), Slovakia (-0.359) and Estonia (-0.716) are presenting negative coefficients. That means, that "PD" has a positive effect on the reduction of food waste. This stands in contrast to the findings by Dahlén et al. (2009), which found out that a higher population density is causing more food waste per capita. The analysis of Hungary (0.105), Portugal (0.014) and Greece (0.280) is showing positive coefficients, leading to an increase in quantity of food waste. These results go in line with the results of Dithmer & Abdulai (2017). A high population density as well as rural population have a negative effect on food security, leading to more inequality across the world.

The last control variable is "WM", which indicates the amount of capital the countries invest in waste management annually. In the results, "WM" seems to have a negative coefficient in Greece (-1.244), Hungary (-0.214), Norway (-1.312), Portugal (-1.712), Slovakia (-2.236) and Estonia (-6.888). Only the analysis of the Netherlands has a positive coefficient, leading to an increase in food waste. This result seems to be very positive since almost all countries that have implemented the landfill tax have shown that the management of waste is effective and reduces food waste.

	Greece	Hungary	NL	Norway	Portugal	Slovakia	Estonia
Landfill tax	0.394	-0.155	0.010***	-0.561	-0.082*	0.076*	1.844
CPI	-0.007***	-0.003***	0.002***	0.046**	-0.030**	0.009***	-0.058*
LOG GDP per capita	-2.837	0.252	-0.232	0.291	0.561	2.172	-0.719
PD	0.280	0.105	-0.001***	-0.274	0.014**	-0.359	-0.716
LOG WM	-1.244	-0.214	0.432	-1.312	-1.712	-2.236	-6.888
SD	0.075	0.172	0.000	0.067	0.077	0.003	0.357
R ²	0.990	0.945	0.999	0.947	0.996	1.000	0.868
Adjusted R ²	0.939	0.671	0.997	0.682	0.973	0.998	0.207

Table 7. Regression results of the countries that implemented the landfill tax

The empirical results of the countries that have implemented the landfill tax are demonstrated in Table 7. Also, the regression results are different among the countries that is visible when looking at the p-value. Starting with the model of Greece, the p-values are higher than 0.10 which indicates that the results are statistically insignificant, resulting to accept the null hypothesis. This is also valid for the models of Hungary, Norway, Portugal and Estonia due to the high p-values. Accordingly to the study by Abeliotis et al. (2014, p. 239), the landfill tax as well as food waste

prevention campaigns are "expected to produce positive environmental and economic results at both the household level and the overall waste management in Greece. In the results of the model from the Netherlands, the intercept (0.011) is highly significant denoting for 95 per cent level of confidence. The value of the dummy variable "landfill tax" is 0.023, which indicates a 95 per cent level of confidence. That means that the values are highly significant and the null hypothesis will be rejected in the model of the Netherlands. Additionally, the CPI and the GDP per capita have a significant p-value of 0.071 and 0.051 as well as the control variable "PD" with a p-value of 0.066, marking a 90 per cent level of confidence. The last control variable "WM" has not only a decreasing effect on the quantity of food waste but also a highly significant p-value (0.045). Comparing the results of the Netherlands with the results of Slovakia, the intercept is statistically highly significant (0.029) as well as the p-values of the control variables "GDP per capita" (0.017), "PD" (0.027) and "WM" (0.018). The dummy variable "landfill tax" has a negative effect on the reduction of food waste but its p-value is statistically significant (0.059) leading to retain the null hypothesis. The value marks a 90 per cent level of confidence with the value of control variable "CPI" (0,073).

As in the results of the incineration tax, the level of income of the countries seems to have low impact on the results, leading to the assumption that the income level and waste performance is only slightly correlated compliant with the collected data. Also, economic factors like the income increase environmental awareness on one hand but can vary across member states (Giovanis, 2015, p. 201).

Country	Predictors	Intercept	Landfill	CPI	GDP per	PD	LOG WM
			tax		capita		
Greece	Regressors	23.223	0.394	-0.007***	-2.837	0.280	-1.244
	p-value	0.229	0.339	0.581	0.321	0.338	0.242
Hungary	Regressors	-6.187	-0.155	-0.003***	0.252	0.105	-0.214
	p-value	0.935	0.839	0.978	0.965	0.921	0.902
NL	Regressors	5.840	0.010	0.002***	-0.232	-0.001***	0.432
	p-value	0.011**	0.023**	0.071*	0.056*	0.066*	0.045**
Norway	Regressors	13.553	-0.561	0.046**	0.291	-0.274	-1.312
	p-value	0.422	0.409	0.476	0.289	0.628	0.574
Portugal	Regressors	16.087	-0.082	-0.030**	0.561	0.014**	-1.712
	p-value	0.413	0.739	0.207	0.764	0.854	0.237
Slovakia	Regressors	42.157	0.076	0.009***	2.172	-0.359	-2.236
	p-value	0.029**	0.059*	0.073*	0.017**	0.027**	0.018**
Estonia	Regressors	91.150	1.844	-0.058*	-0.719	-0.716	-6.888
	p-value	0.731	0.773	0.553	0.727	0.695	0.778

Table 8. Empirical results of the models of the countries that implemented the landfill tax

* denotes significance at the 90% level of confidence

**denotes significance at the 95% level of confidence

***denotes significance at the 99% level of confidence

5.1.3 Pay-as-you-throw approach

Following the presentation and discussion of the prior two economic incentives, the incineration tax and the landfill tax, the waste management approach PAYT is presented in this chapter. In Figure 5, the amount of food waste that has been collected during the years 2004-2016 in the countries that introduced the PAYT approach is visible. It should be noted that in comparison to the countries included in the models of the other policy instruments, the countries in Figure 5 show different quantities of food waste. It is seen that the highest quantity of food waste was collected by the UK until 2008. After the financial crisis the curve has a drop that has a slightly increasing trend in the past years. For Ireland, Poland and Italy the trend is going downwards, leading to a trend of less food waste in the past years. Only France has a slightly increasing trend line that is almost stagnant since 2012. From all the countries presented in Figure 5, France has the highest amount of food waste since 2010 with a total of around 11,512,213 tonnes in 2016.



Figure 5. Animal and Food waste; vegetable waste of the countries that implemented the Pay-asyou-throw approach during the period 2004-2016. (Source: EUROSTAT, 2020)

Separating the countries into income levels, Table 8 is giving an overview of the categorisation. According to the categorisation of EUROSTAT, Slovakia is classified as a low income country with a median equivalised net income of less than $\notin 10,000$ in 2016. The country implemented the PAYT in 2013. Furthermore, Italy and Poland are categorised as middle income countries ($\notin 10,000-16,500$) as well as they introduced the approach in 2011 (Zagórska, 2015). In the paper by Gentil (2013) and Dunne et al. (2008), the countries France and Ireland implemented the PAYT approach from 2009 to 2014 in France and 2005 in Ireland. Both of these countries are categorised as middle to high level income countries ($\notin 16,500-23,000$) as well as the United Kingdom that implemented the PAYT approach in 2014 (BBC, 2019).

Table 9. Countries	' level of income	and year o	of implementation	of the	Pay-as-you-throw	, approach
--------------------	-------------------	------------	-------------------	--------	------------------	------------

Country	Level of income	Year of implementation
France	Middle/High	2009-2014 (Gentil, 2013)
Ireland	Middle/High	2005 (Dunne et al., 2008)
Italy	Middle	2011
Poland	Middle	2011 (Zagórska, 2015)
Slovakia	Low	2013
United Kingdom	Middle/High	2014 (BBC, 2019)

The descriptive statistics of the countries that have implemented the PAYT approach are presented in Table 14, which can be found in the Appendix, giving an overview of the variables included in the model as well as the differences between the countries. It can be mentioned, that France and UK have the lowest mean "CPI" as middle to high income countries. Additionally, Italy, Poland and UK are characterised by a low mean "GDP per capita" as they are middle and middle to high income countries. The UK and Italy have the highest mean population density and the UK and France the highest amount of capital that is invested in waste management among these countries. The UK also has the highest amount of food waste collected, whereas Slovakia and Ireland have the lowest in comparison.

The regression results of the model including the policy instrument, PAYT approach, are shown in Table 9. The table provides the overview of the first results for further discussion. It can be seen that the R^2 are very high. Especially of the analysis of France, Slovakia and the UK, the R^2 are around 0.9999, indicating that 99,99 per cent of the variance in the dependent variable can be explained by the independent variables. The values of all R^2 are very similar and high of all countries as well as the adjusted R^2 . This entails that for example for Italy 69.7 per cent of the total variance of the dependent variable "food waste" can be reasoned by the model. For the other country models, the adjusted R^2 is ranging between 0.987 up to 0.9999.

Taking a look at the coefficients of the variables, the results vary significantly between the countries. The intercept as the constant is showing a negative coefficient for Poland (-114.022) and UK (-29.187), while the value of the intercept from Poland, when all X are equal to 0, is high in comparison. For the models of France (7.598), Ireland (11.078), Italy (4.748) and Slovakia (42.157) the coefficient remains positive.

The dummy variable "PAYT" is presented to have both an increasing and decreasing impact on the quantity of food waste in Table 9. The PAYT approach have in the models of Italy (-0.190), Poland (-0.871) and the UK (-0.099) a negative coefficient. This accounts for a decreasing effect on food waste. According to Chalak et al. (2018) have frameworks (17.6%), awareness campaigns (21.3%) and incentives (14.3%) like the PAYT approach have an impact on the reduction of food waste. On

the opposite are the results of the models France (0.157), Ireland (0.816) and Slovakia (0.076) where the PAYT approach has an increasing effect on food waste. The values are not very high even if it has a negative effect on the reduction of food waste in the EU and thus the achievement of the SDGs as well as targets set by the EU to cut food waste until 2030.

Since the variables "WM" and "CPI" have an extremely weak correlation it will be of interest to look at the coefficients that resulted out of the regression analysis. Thus, the "CPI" has a positive coefficient in the analysis of France (0.038), Poland (0.082) and Slovakia (0.009), which all have very low values. Hence, the "CPI" has an increasing effect but not a significant effect on the amount of food waste in these countries. For the models of Ireland (-0.131), Italy (-0.005) and the UK (-0.043) the coefficient is negative, which means that the "CPI" has positive impact on the reduction of food waste in these countries. All the countries where the "CPI" has a negative effect on food waste are middle and middle to high level income countries.

The next economic variable is the "GDP per capita" and shows both negative and positive coefficients across the countries included in the model. Because of this, the countries have to be considered separately. In the results, the "GDP per capita" only has a negative coefficient in the model of Ireland (-0.421), which is a middle to high country. The other models of France (2.494), Italy (0.004), Poland (0.122), Slovakia (2.172) as well as the UK (2.983) show that the "GDP per capita" has an increasing effect on food waste. According to Mak et al. (2020), in countries with a higher "GDP per capita" like Switzerland, the last stages of the food chain are accounts for the highest amount of food waste.

How dense the population is in a country is closely correlated to the amount of wasted food. The results of the analysis of France (0.023), Ireland (0.110), Italy (0.032), Poland (1.023) and the UK (0.053) show that the "PD" have a positive coefficient. This is resulting in an increase of the amount of food waste in these countries. This findings can also be found in the paper by Dahlén et al. (2009), where a higher population density resulted in an increase of food waste per capita. Especially for Italy, the food waste increases with population density (Cerciello et al., 2019). Only the model of Slovakia (-0.359) has a negative coefficient and therefore a decreasing effect on food waste.

The last control variable in the model is "WM" and is strongly correlated with the "PD". In the regression results in Table 9, the "WM" have a negative effect on the reduction of food waste for the analysis of Ireland (0.671), which is also a middle to high income country. Even that the value is not significantly high, it seems that Ireland as a middle to high income country could invest more in waste management to decrease the effect on waste management. This is the case for the models of France (-3.343), Italy (-0.376), Poland (-1.799), Slovakia (-2.236) and the UK (-0.488). There the "WM" has a negative effect on the amount of food waste. It is significant that nearly all countries that implemented the PAYT approach show that "WM" contributes to combat waste.

Table 10. Regression	on results of the o	countries that implemented	l the Pay-as-you-throw	, approach
----------------------	---------------------	----------------------------	------------------------	------------

	France	Ireland	Italy	Poland	Slovakia	UK
PAYT	0.157	0.816	-0.190	-0.871	0.076*	-0.099*
CPI	0.038**	-0.131	-0.005***	0.082*	0.009***	-0.043**
LOG GDP per capita	2.494	-0.421	0.004***	0.122	2.172	2.983
PD	0.023**	0.110	0.032**	1.023	-0.359	0.053*
LOG WM	-3.343	0.671	-0.376	-1.799	-2.236	-0.488
SD	0.006	0.025	0.041	0.021	0.003	0.000
R ²	1.000	0.998	0.949	0.998	1.000	1.000
Adjusted R ²	0.998	0.987	0.697	0.988	0.998	1.000

The empirical results of France present a significant p-value for the intercept (0.099) as well as the dummy variable "PAYT" (0.096) and the control variable "CPI" (0.086) as shown in Table 10. All three variables are significant on a 90 per cent level of confidence. The dummy variable "PAYT" (0.065) and the control variable "WM" (0.073) are significant on a 90 per cent level of confidence for analysis of Ireland. Also, the control variables "CPI" (0.039) and "PD" (0.045) are highly significant on a 95 per cent level of confidence. A p-value under 0.10 indicates for a rejection of the null hypothesis, which makes the results statistically significant. In comparison to France, the analysis of Ireland shows an insignificance of the intercept. Going over to the country model Italy, all the variables are characterised by insignificant p-values, having a value above 0.10, resulting in accepting the null hypothesis. The analysis of Poland exposes a significant p-value of the intercept (0.082) and the control variable "PD" (0.078) on a 90 per cent level of confidence, while the other p-values remain statistically insignificant. Looking at the empirical results of the country Slovakia, the intercept (0.029) is highly significant as well as the "GDP per capita" (0.017), "PD" (0.027) and "WM" (0.018) on a 95 per cent level of confidence. The other variables "PAYT" (0.059) and "CPI" (0.073) are statistically significant on a 90 per cent level of confidence. All variables of the model Slovakia are significant, leading to rejecting the null hypothesis. In addition, the results of the variables of the UK that are presented in Table 14, showing highly significant p-values. Thus, the intercept has a p-value of (0.002) along with the dummy variable "PAYT" (0.006) and the control variables "CPI" (0.002), "GDP per capita" (0.002), "PD" (0.003) as well as "WM" (0.007). Having a p-value below 0.01 denoting significance at the 99 per cent level of confidence. Nonetheless, as in the results of the policy instruments "incineration tax" and "landfill tax", the level of income of the countries is not closely connected to their waste performance. It is more dependent on amount of capital invest in waste management and if the topic is on the countries' agenda and included in their targets.

Country		Intercept	PAYT	CPI	LOG GDP	PD	LOG WM
					per capita		
France	Regressors	7.598	0.157	0.038**	2.494	0.023**	-3.343
	p-value	0.099*	0.096*	0.086*	0.129	0.225	0.117
Ireland	Regressors	11.078	0.816	-0.131	-0.421	0.110	0.671
	p-value	0.147	0.065*	0.039**	0.339	0.045**	0.073*
Italy	Regressors	4.748	-0.190	-0.005***	0.004***	0.032**	-0.376
	p-value	0.461	0.228	0.740	0.939	0.296	0.577
Poland	Regressors	-114.022	-0.871	0.082*	0.122	1.023	-1.799
	p-value	0.082*	0.138	0.157	0.276	0.078*	0.172
Slovakia	Regressors	42.157	0.076	0.009***	2.172	-0.359	-2.236
	p-value	0.029**	0.059*	0.073*	0.017**	0.027**	0.018**
UK	Regressors	-29.187	-0.099*	-0.043**	2.983	0.053*	-0.488
	p-value	0.002***	0.006***	0.002***	0.002***	0.003***	0.007***

Table 11. Empirical results of the models of the countries that implemented the Pay-as-you-throw approach

* denotes significance at the 90% level of confidence **denotes significance at the 95% level of confidence ***denotes significance at the 99% level of confidence

6 Summary and concluding remarks

With the growing population and increasing demand for food, negative externalities are emerging. The current food system is unsustainable and the environmental, social and economic impacts must be taken under consideration. It is necessary to find a more efficient and sustainable way to produce food so that the world's food system can deliver better nutritional outcomes at a smaller environmental cost (Garnett, 2013). In this thesis, the impact of EU's policy instruments on the reduction of food waste was examined. The findings of this thesis aim to contribute to the research on food waste reduction in the EU, giving the example of three policies to compare with each other. Additionally, it seeks to discover the most efficient policy instrument that will complement the waste hierarchy. Thus, the findings are assisting to achieve the SDG's of the UN like SDG 2 (end hunger, achieve food security and improve nutrition, and promote sustainable agriculture) as well as SDG 12 (ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns). The empirical method of the thesis was a multiple regression analysis to analyse the different explanatory variables in order to gain knowledge about their impact for future operations and policy frameworks. This method or similar econometric methods were also chosen by several scholars to assess the impact of policies on either household or regional, national and international level (Sasao, 2014; Dithmer & Abdulai, 2017, Mazzanti et al., 2009; Mazzanti et al., 2011; Mazzanti & Zoboli, 2008).

When quantifying the amounts of food waste in the EU, nearly all countries included in the models had a decreasing trend in the period 2004-2016. Only France showed an increasing trend over the past years. Also, the Netherlands were showing a high amount of food waste, which might be due to the fact that the Netherlands are a major producer of agricultural products. There is a lack of common and harmonised methodology for collecting food waste data on EU level and global level that made it difficult to compare results of existing studies and statistics at national level (FU-SIONS, 2014, p. 4; Bräutigam et al., 2014; Thyberg & Tonjes, 2016). This is valid especially between the EU member countries in the North and the South of Europe.

Going over to the main findings, the empirical analysis shows a significant positive correlation in the analysis of the landfill tax as well as the PAYT approach between the variables "WM" and "CPI". Furthermore, the "GDP per capita" and the "PD"

were positive correlated in the model of the landfill tax and the variables "PD" and "WM" showed a significant positive correlation in the model of the landfill tax and the PAYT approach. All other variables' relationships were insignificant.

Looking at the empirical findings, the landfill tax seems mainly to have a decreasing effect on food waste for the countries included in the model, while the incineration tax and PAYT approach are both increasing as well as decreasing the quantity of food waste. The "CPI" is showing to have a negative effect on the amount of food waste in the model of the landfill tax and incineration tax, which refute the expected result. Only the models of the PAYT approach sharing both positive and negative coefficients in the results, resulting in a decreasing effect of the "CPI" on food waste. The "GDP per capita" is expected to increase food waste, which is confirmed by the models of the landfill tax, incineration tax and PAYT approach, leading to the conclusion that a higher GDP per capita is resulting into more food waste. Only the results of Slovakia refutes the findings, leading to a decrease in food waste. In a study by Padilla & Trujillo (2018), the results showed that the level of income and education is not connected to the waste performance, which lead to a reliability of the results of Slovakia. As the "PD" is expected to reduce food waste, the findings of the landfill tax and PAYT approach show the opposite. The models of the countries that implemented the incineration tax mainly show negative coefficients. Lastly, the variable "WM" was expected to have a negative coefficient, leading to a decrease of food waste. The results of the models of the landfill tax and the PAYT present that nearly all countries included, command of a sufficient waste management. Only the results of the models of the countries that implemented the incineration tax show an increase in food waste regarding their management of waste.

Additionally to the findings, the level of income seems to have no significant influence on the waste management performance or the quantity of food wasted. Accordingly to Pearson et al. (2013, p. 127), food waste appears on "all levels of income". It can be said, that the results of the analysis differ across the countries and policy instruments. It seems that there is not one main efficient policy instrument, thus it is important to implement a variety of instruments like policies but also soft instruments as awareness campaigns to spread out knowledge and change consumer behaviour (Finnveden et al., 2013). It has to be proven that awareness campaigns were the most popular instrument in the EU over the past years that focussed to highlight the cost of food waste to consumers (Cerciello et al., 2019). A policy instrument that is effective does not necessarily have to be cost-effective (Andersson & Stage, 2018). Economic incentives seems often not longer up to date and "[...] are often an impediment to new more environmentally sustainable technology (Cossu & Masi, 2013, p. 2546). A revision of policies might be necessary to improve waste management across the member states (Cossu & Masi, 2013). As seen in the EU, there is a decreasing trend of landfilling, leading to the conclusion that more environmentally friendly ways of disposal are managing waste as well as that the framework of the EU is entered into force (Mazzanti et al., 2011). Including the potential of technological development in the future, recycling could be equally efficient as incineration (Finnveden et al., 2007). According to Rispo et al. (2015), low-income com-

munities for example with a high population density "[...] need more effort and resources to drive behavioural change towards food waste reduction". In order to combat food waste and achieve the targets of the EU as well as the UN Sustainable Development Goals, there is a need that all stakeholders of the food system are collaborating (Mourad, 2016; Beretta et al., 2013, p. 772). Also, the member countries of the EU as well as on an international view need to agree on one unified definition in regard to food loss and waste in order to make the results more transparent and the data more reliable. Some parts of food waste are challenging to avoid like peels etc. as well as it has to be kept in mind that redistribution of edible food is connected to costs like transportation and distribution (Schott et al., 2013; Buzby et al., 2014). There is also lack of literature that has assessed "the business or management side of food waste initiatives" that makes it "unclear which factors influence the success" (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2017, p. 34). Accordingly to Bulkeley & Askins (2009, p. 258), there are three key targets to achieve - "technical innovations, attempts to change behaviour, and efforts to enrol new waste streams" for better and more effective waste disposal. The government needs further enforcement to create a more "socially responsible and sustainable pathway" for the supply chain (Devin & Richards, 2018, p. 208). Thus it would be beneficial to include several stakeholders like municipalities, local authorities etc. to debate sustainability of food and focussing on the "culture of valuing resources" (Garnett, 2013; Giovanis, 2015, p. 202). This would be also necessary to moralise about the ethical aspect of food waste as well as adress drivers (Gjerris & Gaiani, 2013; Hebrok & Broks, 2017). For further research, scholars need to assess further the impact of different policy instruments on a macro level to create a sustainable and resilient food system that is able to cope with the environmental challenges and at the same time provide enough food to feed the growing urban and global population.

References

- Abeliotis, K., Lasaridi, K., & Chroni, C. (2014). Attitudes and behaviour of Greek households regarding food waste prevention. Waste Management & Research: The Journal of the International Solid Wastes and Public Cleansing Association, ISWA, 32(3), 237–240.
- Abu Hatab, A., Cavinato, M., Lindemer A. & Lagerkvist C. J. (2019). Urban Sprawl, Food Security & Agricultural Systems in Developing Countries: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *Cities (Elsevier)*, 94, 129-142.
- Andersson, C., & Stage, J. (2018). Direct and indirect effects of waste management policies on household waste behaviour: The case of Sweden. Waste Management (New York, N.Y.), 76, 19–27.
- APSE (2013). The impact of the economic downturn on household waste generation. Available at: http://apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/members-area/briefings/2013/13-35-impact-of-economic-recession-on-waste-generationpdf/ [2020-06-16]
- ARC (2012). More Responsible Food Consumption: Proposals to Prevent and Avoid Food Wastage.
- Aschemann-Witzel, J., Hooge, I. E. de Rohm, H., Normann, A., Bossle, M. B., Grønhøj, A., & Oostindjer, M. (2017). Key characteristics and success factors of supply chain initiatives tackling consumer-related food waste – A multiple case study. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 155, 33–45.
- Baptista, P., Campos, I., Pires, I. & Vaz, S. (2012). Do Campo ao Garfo Desperdício Alimentar em Portugal. Lisbon.
- BBC (2019). Guernsey introduces pay-as-you-throw rubbish charges. Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-guernsey-47093766 [2020-06-16]
- BCFN (2012). Food waste: causes, impacts and proposals.
- Beretta, C., Stoessel, F., Baier, U., & Hellweg, S. (2013). Quantifying food losses and the potential for reduction in Switzerland. *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)*, *33*(3), 764–773.
- Bilitewski, B. (2008). From traditional to modern fee systems. *Waste Management* (*New York, N.Y.*), 28(12), 2760–2766.

- Bräutigam, K.-R., Jörissen, J., & Priefer, C. (2014). The extent of food waste generation across EU-27: Different calculation methods and the reliability of their results. Waste Management & Research: The Journal of the International Solid Wastes and Public Cleansing Association, ISWA, 32(8), 683–694.
- Bulkeley, H., & Gregson, N. (2009). Crossing the Threshold: Municipal Waste Policy and Household Waste Generation. *Environment and Planning a: Economy and Space*, 41(4), 929–945.
- Buzby, J. C., & Hyman, J. (2012). Total and per capita value of food loss in the United States. *Food Policy*, *37*(5), 561–570.
- Buzby, J.C., Wells, H.F., Hyman, J. (2014). The Estimated Amount, Value and Calories of Postharvest Food Losses at the Retail and Consumer Levels in the United States. USDA Economic Research Service, Washington, DC, USA.
- Cerciello, M., Agovino, M., & Garofalo, A. (2019). Estimating food waste under the FUSIONS definition: What are the driving factors of food waste in the Italian provinces? *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 21(3), 1139– 1152.
- Chalak, A., Abou-Daher, C., Chaaban, J., & Abiad, M. G. (2016). The global economic and regulatory determinants of household food waste generation: A cross-country analysis. *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)*, 48, 418–422.
- Clarke, S. (2010) Ireland: Government Creating Incineration Capacity and Tax, Library of Congress. Available at: http://www.loc.gov/law/foreign-news/article/ireland-government-creating-incineration-capacity-and-tax/ [2020-05-11]
- Cossu, R., & Masi, S. (2013). Re-thinking incentives and penalties: Economic aspects of waste management in Italy. *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)*, 33(11), 2541–2547.
- Cox, J., & Downing, P. (2007). *Retail programme food waste: Final report: Food Behaviour Consumer Research: Quantitative Phase.* Banbury.
- Cristóbal, J., Limleamthong, P., Manfredi, S., & Guillén-Gosálbez, G. (2016). Methodology for combined use of data envelopment analysis and life cycle assessment applied to food waste management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *135*, 158–168.
- Dahlén, L., Berg, H., Lagerkvist, A., & Berg, P. E. O. (2009). Inconsistent pathways of household waste. Waste Management (New York), 29(6), 1798–1806.
- Dahlén, L., & Lagerkvist, A. (2010). Pay as you throw: Strengths and weaknesses of weight-based billing in household waste collection systems in Sweden. *Waste Management (New York)*, 30(1), 23–31.
- Devin, B., & Richards, C. (2018). Food Waste, Power, and Corporate Social Responsibility in the Australian Food Supply Chain. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 150(1), 199–210.
- De Weerdt, L., Sasao, T., Compernolle, T., Van Passel, S., De Jaeger, S. (2020). The effect of waste incineration taxation on industrial plastic waste generation: A panel analysis. *Resources, Conservation & Recycling, 157*, 1-9.
- Dithmer, J., & Abdulai, A. (2017). Does trade openness contribute to food security? A dynamic panel analysis. *Food Policy*, 69, 218–230.

- Dunne, J. A., Williams, R. J., Martinez, N. D., Wood, R. A., & Erwin, D. H. (2008). Compilation and Network Analyses of Cambrian Food Webs. *PLoS Biology*, 6(4), 693–708.
- Ederveen, S., de Groot, H. L. F., & Nahuis, R. (2006). Fertile Soil for Structural Funds? A Panel Data Analysis of the Conditional Effectiveness of European Cohesion Policy. *Kyklos*, 99(1), 17–42.
- European Environmental Agency (EEA) (2013). *Managing municipal solid waste* – *a review of achievements in 32 European countries*. EE Report No 2/2013.
- European Environment Agency (EEA) (2016). Policy instruments. Available at: https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/policy/intro [2020-06-16]
- EC (1975). Council Directive 75/442/EEC of 15 July 1975 on waste. The Council of the European Communities. Off. J. L 194. Brussels.
- EC (2019). Review of Waste Policy and Legislation. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/target_review.htm [2020-06-16]
- European Central Bank (ECB) (2019). ECB reference exchange rate, US dollar/Euro (Exchange Rates). Available at: https://sdw.ecb.europa.eu/quickview.do?SERIES_KEY=120.EXR.A.USD.EUR.SP00.A [2020-06-16]
- Eriksson, M., Strid, I., & Hansson, P.-A. (2015). Carbon footprint of food waste management options in the waste hierarchy a Swedish case study. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 93, 115–125.
- Ettlinger, S., & Bapasola, A. (2016). *Landfill Tax, Incineration Tax and Landfill Ban in Austria.*
- FAO (2013). Food security statistics. Available at: http://www.fao.org/economic/ess/ess-fs/en/ [2020-06-16]
- FAO (2014). Definitional Framework of Food Loss. Food and Agriculture of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAO, IFAD and WFP (2015). *The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2015*. *Meeting the 2015 international hunger targets: taking stock of uneven pro-gress*. Rome, FAO.
- FAO (2015). Food Wastage Footprint & Climate Change. FAO, Rome, Italy, 1-4. Available at: http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/nr/sustainability_pathways/docs/FWF_and_climate_change.pdf [2020-06-16].
- FAOSTAT (2020). Available at: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/?#home [2020-06-16]
- Finnveden, G., Björklund, A., Reich, M. C., Eriksson, O., & Sörbom, A. (2007). Flexible and robust strategies for waste management in Sweden. *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)*, 27(8), 1-8.
- Finnveden, G., Ekvall, T., Arushanyan, Y., Bisaillon, M., Henriksson, G., Gunnarsson Östling, U., Guath, M. (2013). Policy Instruments towards a Sustainable Waste Management. *Sustainability*, 5(3), 841–881.
- FUSIONS (2014). *Report on review of (food) waste reporting methodology and practice*. Wageningen.

- FUSIONS (2016). Market-based instruments and other socio-economic incentives enhancing food waste prevention and reduction. Wageningen.
- Garnett, T. (2013). Food sustainability: Problems, perspectives and solutions. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 72(1), 29–39.
- Garrone, P., Melacini, M., Perego, A. (2012). Feed the hungry. Surplus food as an opportunity. Italy, Politecnico di Milano.
- Garrone, P., Melacini, M., Perego, A. (2014). Opening the black box of food waste reduction. *Food Policy*, 46, 129–139.
- Gentil, E. C. (2013). Municipal waste management in France.
- Giovanis, E. (2015). Relationship between recycling rate and air pollution: Waste management in the state of Massachusetts. *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)*, 40, 192–203.
- Gjerris, M., Gaiani, S. (2013). Household food waste in Nordic countries: Estimations and ethical implications. *Journal of Applied Ethics*, 7(1), 6–23.
- Gnolonfin, H. A. (2016). An evaluation of French municipal solid waste pricing system.
- Göbel, C., Teitscheid, P., Ritter, G., Blumenthal, A., Friedrich, S., Frick, T., Rohn, H. (2012). Verringerung von Lebensmittelabfällen – Identifikation von Ursachen und Handlungsoptionen in Nordrhein-Westfalen. Münster.
- Graham-Rowe, E., Jessop, D. C., & Sparks, P. (2015). Predicting household food waste reduction using an extended theory of planned behaviour. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 101*, 194–202.
- Griffin, M., Sobal, J., & Lyson, T. A. (2009). An analysis of a community food waste stream. *Agriculture and Human Values*, 26(1-2), 67–81.
- Grosso, M., Motta, A., & Rigamonti, L. (2010). Efficiency of energy recovery from waste incineration, in the light of the new Waste Framework Directive. *Waste Management*, *30*(7), 1238–1243.
- Hage, O. & Söderholm, P. (2008). An econometric analysis of regional differences in household waste collection: the case of plastic packaging waste in Sweden. *Waste management*, 28(10), 1720–1731.
- Hanssen, O. J., Møller, H. (2013). Food Wastage in Norway 2013: Status and Trends 2009-13, Østfoldforskning.
- Hebrok, M., & Boks, C. (2017). Household food waste: Drivers and potential intervention points for design – An extensive review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 151, 380–392.
- HLPE (2014). Food Losses and Waste in the Context of Sustainable Food Systems. A Report by the High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security, Rome 2014. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3901e.pdf [2020-06-16]
- Hodges, R. J., Buzby, J. C., & Bennett, B. (2011). Postharvest losses and waste in developed and less developed countries: opportunities to improve resource use. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 149(S1), 37–45.

- Holmes, A., Fulford, J., & Pitts-Tucker, C. (2014). *Investigating the Impact of Recycling Incentive Schemes*.
- Jensen, C., Stenmarck, Å., Sörme, L., & Dunsö, O. (2011). *Matavfall 2010 från jord till bord*.
- Jofra Sora, M. (2013). *Incineration overcapacity and waste shipping in Europe: the end of the proximity principle?* Global Alliance for Incinerator Alternatives.
- Johnstone, N., & Labonne, J. (2004). Generation of Household Solid Waste in OECD Countries: An Empirical Analysis Using Macroeconomic Data. *Land Economics*, 80(4), 529–538.
- Jörissen, J., Priefer, C., & Bräutigam, K.-R. (2015). Food Waste Generation at Household Level: Results of a Survey among Employees of Two European Research Centers in Italy and Germany. *Sustainability*, 7(3), 2695–2715.
- Katajajuuri, J.-M., Hartikainen, H., Jalkanen, L., Koivupuro, H.-K., Silvennoinen, K., & Reinikainen, A. (2011). Reduction of food waste in Finnish food production chain as part of life cycle management, 1–8.
- Karousakis, K. (2006). The Economics and Policy of Municipal Solid Waste Management (Doctoral thesis). University College London, London.
- Kim, I.-C. (2002). Korea's policy instruments for waste minimization. Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management. (4), 12–22.
- Kiss, T., & Drescher, L. (2014). Effects of the landfill tax on waste management. *Journal for Engineering and Information Sciences*, 9, 31–42.
- Kosseva, M.R. (2013). Recent European legislation on management of wastes in the food industry. In: Kosseva, M.R., Webb, C. (Eds.), Food Industry Wastes Assessment and Recuperation of Commodities. *Elsevier*, Oxford, 3–16.
- Kranert, M., Hafner, G., Barabosz, J., Schuller, H., Leverenz, D., Kölbig, A., Scherhaufer, S. (2012). Ermittlung der weggeworfenen Lebensmittelmengen und Vorschläge zur Verminderung der Wegwerfrate bei Lebensmitteln in Deutschland. Stuttgart.
- Kummu, M., de Moel, H., Porkka, M., Siebert, S., Varis, O., Ward, P.J. (2012). Lost food, wasted resources: Global food supply chain losses and their impacts on freshwater, cropland, and fertilizer use. *Science of the Total Environment*, 438, 477–489.
- Kusch, S. & Evoh, C. J. (2013). Meeting the growing demand for food and bioenergy in the 21st century: synergies through efficient waste management. *Biofu*els, 4(5), 479–483.
- Lee, S.-H., Choi, K.-I., Osako, M., & Dong, J.-I. (2007). Evaluation of environmental burdens caused by changes of food waste management systems in Seoul, Korea. *Science of the Total Environment*, 387, 42–53.
- Ljunggren Söderman, M., Eriksson, O., Björklund, A., Östblom, G., Ekvall, T., Finnveden, G., Sundqvist, J.-O. (2016). Integrated Economic and Environmental Assessment of Waste Policy Instruments. *Sustainability*, 8(411), 1-21.
- Lundqvist, J., Fraiture, C. de, & Molden, D. (2008). Saving Water: From Field to Fork: Curbing Losses and Wastage in the Food Chain. SIWI.

- Mackie, F. (2014). Food Waste, Shop-Lifting and Dumpster Diving: Ethical Conceptions of Waste and the Re-Appropriation of Goods (Master Thesis). Linköping University, Linköping.
- Mak, T. M. W., Xiong, X., Tsang, D. C. W., Yu, I. K. M., & Poon, C. S. (2020). Sustainable food waste management towards circular bioeconomy: Policy review, limitations and opportunities. *Bioresource Technology*, 297, 1-11.
- Marques, R. C., Simões, P., & Pinto, F. S. (2018). Tariff regulation in the waste sector: An unavoidable future. *Waste Management*, 78, 292–300.
- Martin, M., & Danielsson, L. (2016). Environmental Implications of Dynamic Policies on Food Consumption and Waste Handling in the European Union. Sustainability, 8(282), 1-15.
- Mazzanti, M., Montini, A., & Nicolli, F. (2009). The dynamics of landfill diversion: Economic drivers, policy factors and spatial issues. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 54(1), 53–61.
- Mazzanti, M., Montini, A., & Nicolli, F. (2011). Embedding landfill diversion in economic, geographical and policy settings. *Applied Economics*, 43(24), 3299– 3311.
- Mazzanti, M., Nicolli, F., & Biolcati Rinaldi, D. (2012). Multi-Tasking in the Waste Realm. Theoretical and Empirical Insights on Management and Disposal Performances. *Euro Economics*, 5(31), 88–101.
- Mazzanti, M., & Zoboli, R. (2008). Waste generation, waste disposal and policy effectiveness. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 52(10), 1221–1234.
- Mena, C., Adenso-Diaz, B., & Yurt, O. (2011). The causes of food waste in the supplier–retailer interface: Evidences from the UK and Spain. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 55(6), 648–658.
- Miliute, J., & Kazimieras Staniskis, J. (2010). Application of life-cycle assessment in optimisation of municipal waste management systems: The case of Lithuania. Waste Management & Research: The Journal of the International Solid Wastes and Public Cleansing Association, ISWA, 28(4), 298–308.
- Miliute-Plepiene, J., & Plepys, A. (2015). Does food sorting prevents and improves sorting of household waste? A case in Sweden. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 101, 182–192.
- Møller, H., Vold, M., Schakenda, V., & Hanssen, O. J. (2012). *Mapping method* for food loss in the food processing industry.
- Monier, V., Mudgal, S., Escalon, V., O'Connor, C., Gibon, T., Anderson, G., Morton, G. (2010). Preparatory Study on Food Waste across EU 27.
- Mourad, M. (2016). Recycling, recovering and preventing "food waste": competing solutions for food systems sustainability in the United States and France. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *126*, 461–477.
- Murugan, K., Chandrasekaran, S. V., Karthikeyan, P., AlSohaibani, S. (2013). *Current state of the art of food processing by products*. In: Chandrasekaran M, ed. Valorization of Food Processing By-Products. Taylor & Francis Group, Florida, pp. 35-62.

- Neff, R. A., Spiker, M. L., & Truant, P. L. (2015). Wasted Food: U.S. Consumers' Reported Awareness, Attitudes, and Behaviours. *PloS One*, 10(6), 1-16.
- Obersteiner, G., & Schneider, F. (2006). NÖ Restmüllananlyse 2005/06: Zusammensetzung des Restmülls. Wien.
- Olofsson, M., Sahlin, J., Ekvall, T., & Sundberg, J. (2005). Driving forces for import of waste for energy recovery in Sweden. Waste Management & Research: The Journal of the International Solid Wastes and Public Cleansing Association, ISWA, 23(1), 3–12.
- Otles, S., Despoudi, S., Bucatariu, C., & Kartal, C. (2015). Food waste management, valorisation, and sustainability in the food industry. In *Food Waste Recovery* (pp. 3–23). Elsevier.
- Padilla, A., & Trujillo, J. C. (2018). Waste disposal and households' heterogeneity. Identifying factors shaping attitudes towards source-separated recycling in Bogotá, Colombia. *Waste Management*, 74, 16–33.
- Papineschi, J., Hogg, D., Chowdhury, T., Durrant, C., & Thomson, A. (2019). Analysis of Nordic regulatory framework and its effect on waste prevention and recycling in the region. Copenhagen: Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Parfitt, J., Barthel, M., & Macnaughton, S. (2010). Food waste within food supply chains: Quantification and potential for change to 2050. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 365(1554), 3065–3081.
- Parizeau, K., Massow, M. von, & Martin, R. (2015). Household-level dynamics of food waste production and related beliefs, attitudes, and behaviours in Guelph, Ontario. *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)*, 35, 207–217.
- Pearson, D., Minehan, M., Wakefield-Rann, R. (2013). Food waste in Australian households: why does it occur? *The Australasian-Pacific Journal of Regional Food Studies* 3, 118-132.
- Puig Ventosa, I. (2011). *Landfill and Waste Incineration Taxes: The Spanish Case*. Environment & Management. Brussels.
- Priefer, C., Jörissen, J., & Bräutigam, K.-R. (2013). Technology options for feeding 10 billion people - Options for Cutting Food Waste. Brussels.
- Priefer, C., Jörissen, J., & Bräutigam, K.-R. (2016). Food waste prevention in Europe A cause-driven approach to identify the most relevant leverage points for action. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 109, 155–165.
- Profu AB (2006). *Mottagningsavgifter för avfallsförbränning i Sverige 2006 (Gate fees for waste incineration in Sweden 2006)* (in Swedish). Mölndal, Sweden.
- Quested, T. E., Marsh, E., Stunell, D., & Parry, A. D. (2013). Spaghetti soup: The complex world of food waste behaviours. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 79, 43–51.
- Reichenbach, J. (2008). Status and prospects of pay-as-you-throw in Europe a review of pilot research and implementation studies. *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)*, 28(12), 2809–2814.

- Rispo, A., Williams, I. D., & Shaw, P. J. (2015). Source segregation and food waste prevention activities in high-density households in a deprived urban area. *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)*, 44, 15–27.
- RVF (2006b). Kostnaderna for förbränning ökade med över 50% (The costs for incineration increased with over 50%, in Swedish).
- Sahlin, J., Ekvall, T., Bisaillon, M., & Sundberg, J. (2007). Introduction of a waste incineration tax: Effects on the Swedish waste flows. *Resources, Conservation* and Recycling, 51(4), 827–846.
- Sarkhel, P., & Banerjee, S. (2010). Municipal solid waste management, sourceseparated waste and stakeholder's attitude: a Contingent Valuation Study. *Envi*ronment, Development and Sustainability, 12(5), 611–630.
- Sasao, T. (2014). Does industrial waste taxation contribute to reduction of landfilled waste? Dynamic panel analysis considering industrial waste category in Japan. Waste Management (New York, N.Y.), 34(11), 2239–2250.
- Schanes, K., Dobernig, K., & Gözet, B. (2018). Food waste matters A systematic review of household food waste practices and their policy implications. *Journal* of Cleaner Production, 182, 978–991.
- Schott, A. B. S., Vukicevic, S., Bohn, I., Andersson, T. (2013). Potentials for food waste minimization and effects on potential biogas production through anaerobic digestion. *Journal of Waste Management and Research*, 31 (8), 811–819.
- Secondi, L., Principato, L., & Laureti, T. (2015). Household food waste behaviour in EU-27 countries: A multilevel analysis. *Food Policy*, 56, 25–40.
- Smith, A., Brown, K., Ogilvie, S., Rushton, K., & Bates, J. (2001). Waste management options and climate change. Luxembourg.
- Schneider, F., & Lebersorger, S. (2009). Untersuchung der Lebensmittel im Restmüll in einer oberösterreichischen Region. Wien.
- Skeldon, A. C., Schiller, F., Yang, A., Balke-Visser, T., Penn, A., & Gilbert, N. (2018). Agent-based modelling to predict policy outcomes: A food waste recycling example. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 87, 85–91.
- Soethoudt, H., & Timmermans, T. (2013). *Monitor Voedselverspilling: Mid-term rapportage*. Wageningen.
- Sommer, M., & Ragossnig, A. (2011). Energy from waste in Europe: An analysis and comparison of the EU 27. Waste Management & Research: The Journal of the International Solid Wastes and Public Cleansing Association, ISWA, 29(10 Supplement), 69–77.
- Sonnino, R., & McWilliam, S. (2011). Food waste, catering practices and public procurement: A case study of hospital food systems in Wales. *Food Policy*, 36(6), 823–829.
- Stenmark, Å., Hanssen, O. J., Silvennoinen, K., Katajajuuri, J.-M., & Werge, M. (2011). *Initiatives on prevention of food waste in the retail and wholesale trades*. Stockholm.
- Teller, C., Holweg, C., Reiner, G., & Kotzab, H. (2018). Retail store operations and food waste. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *185*, 981–997.

- The World Bank (2019). Consumer price index (2010 = 100). Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/FP.CPI.TOTL [2020-06-16]
- Thi, N. B. D., Kumar, G., & Lin, C.-Y. (2015). An overview of food waste management in developing countries: Current status and future perspective. *Journal* of Environmental Management, 157, 220–229.
- Thyberg, K. L., & Tonjes, D. J. (2016). Drivers of food waste and their implications for sustainable policy development. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 106, 110–123.
- Thönissen, R. (2010). Fact Sheet: Food Waste in the Netherlands. The Hague.
- United Nations (UN) (2011). World Population Prospects: The 2010 Revision, Volume I: Comprehensive Tables. ST/ESA/SER.A/313. Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division
- United Nations (UN) (2019). Sustainable Development Goals. Available at: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/?menu=1300 [2020-06-16]
- Usui, T., Takeuchi, K. (2014). Evaluating Unit-Based Pricing of Residential Solid Waste: A Panel Data Analysis. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, (58), 245-271.
- Ventour, L. (2008). *The food we waste: A study of the amount, types and nature of the food we throw away in UK households*. Banbury.
- Viel, D., Prigent, P. (2011). Food waste study mid-term report. Paris: Ministry of Economy, Finances and Employment and Ministry of Ecology, Sustainable Development, Transport and Housing.
- Vittuari, M., Azzurro, P., Gaiani, S., Gheoldus, M., Burgos, S., Aramyan, L., Bos-Brouwers, H. (2016). *Recommendations and guidelines for a common European food waste policy framework*. Bologna.
- WasteMinz (2014). National Food Waste Prevention Study National Report.
- Watkins, E., Hogg, D., Mitsios, A., Mudgal, S., Neubauer, A., Reisinger, H., van Acoleyen, M. (2012). Use of Economic Instruments and Waste management performances. Paris.
- Williams, P., Leach, B., & Christensen, K. (2011). *The Composition of Waste Disposed of by the UK Hospitality Industry*. Banbury.
- Withana, S., Brink, P. ten, Illes, A., Nanni, S., & Watkins, E. (2014). *Environmen*tal Tax Reform in Europe: Opportunities for the future. Brussels.
- World Bank Technical Report (1999). *Municipal Solid Waste Incineration*. Washington, D.C., USA.
- Zagórska, K. (2015). Impact of varying local and national social norm information on respondents' preferences for waste sorting at household level. University of Warsaw, Warsaw.
- Zen, I.S., Noor, Z.Z., Yusuf, R.O. (2014). The profiles of household solid waste recyclers and non-recyclers in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. *Habitat Int.* 42, 83–89.

Acknowledgements

I briefly want to thank you the persons that supported me during the process of writing this thesis and followed me during this unusual last semester.

First of all, I want to thank Assem Abu Hatab, my supervisor that helped me to realize this idea as my thesis. He supported me in every step and even when problems occurred, he found a way to solve them with me.

Secondly, I want to thank my class mates and my friends that studied with me nearly every day of this semester.

Moreover, I like to thank especially Julia, Antonio, Vera and Chiara for their support and discussion walks in regard to the thesis but also personally in the times of corona, where it was not always easy to keep the head straight. Thank you very much!

Lastly, I am thanking my parents for their support during the whole two years. Without them it would have not been possible to do my master in Sweden and finish this thesis. Thank you for making this possible for me and always supporting my decision!

Appendix 1

Policy instru- ment	СРІ		GDP per capita	PD	WM
Incineration tax	СРІ	1	0.023	0.105	-0.047
	GDP per capita	0.023	1	-0.182	-0.328
	PD	0.105	-0.182	1	-0.021
	WM	-0.047	-0.328	-0.021	1
Landfill tax	CPI	1	0.132	0.081	0.125
	GDP per capita	0.132	1	0.294	0.562
	PD	0.081	0.294	1	0.663
	WM	0.125	0.562	0.663	1
PAYT	CPI	1	0.164	0.024	0.008
	GDP per capita	0.164	1	0.038	0.023
	PD	0.024	0.038	1	0.782
	WM	0.008	0.023	0.782	1

Table 12. Correlation matrix

Table 13. Descriptive statistics Incineration tax

Country		СРІ	LOG GDP per capita	PD	LOG WM	Incinera- tion tax (dummy variable)	LOG FW
Sweden	Mean	99.68	10.57	22.99	8.87	0.50	6.20
	SD	4.55	0.34	0.83	0.05	0.50	0.02
	Min	92.29	9.75	21.92	8.80	0.00	6.16
	Max	104.61	10.77	24.36	8.96	1.00	6.23
Austria	Mean	100.99	10.66	101.81	8.30	0.50	6.33
	SD	7.85	0.05	2.14	0.06	0.50	0.15
	Min	89.30	10.56	98.96	8.19	0.00	6.13
	Max	111.68	10.71	105.87	8.38	1.00	6.57
Ireland	Mean	101.06	10.73	65.13	7.11	0.50	6.01
	SD	5.11	0.05	3.19	0.24	0.50	0.21
	Min	90.93	10.67	59.08	6.77	0.00	5.68
	Max	105.66	10.81	69.03	7.40	1.00	6.27
Norway	Mean	99.38	10.77	13.42	8.85	0.50	5.93
	SD	7.86	0.33	0.62	0.10	0.50	0.11
	Min	88.00	9.99	12.57	8.69	0.00	5.77
	Max	112.44	11.01	14.34	8.97	1.00	6.07

Country		СРІ	LOG GDP per capita	PD	LOG WM	Incinera- tion tax (dummy variable)	LOG FW
Spain	Mean	99.39	10.46	91.39	9.83	0.50	6.72
	SD	7.35	0.05	2.63	0.09	0.50	0.13
	Min	86.06	10.39	85.98	9.65	0.00	6.56
	Max	107.05	10.55	93.51	9.91	1.00	6.95

Table 14. Descriptive statistics Landfill tax

Country		СРІ	LOG GDP per capita	PD	LOG WM	Landfill tax (dummy variable)	LOG FW
Greece	Mean	96.02	10.36	85.21	9.16	0.50	5.68
	SD	7.60	0.07	0.86	0.15	0.50	0.28
	Min	82.40	10.24	83.60	8.88	0.00	5.12
	Max	104.88	10.49	86.28	9.39	1.00	6.04
Hungary	Mean	96.97	10.11	110.66	8.39	0.50	5.87
	SD	14.34	0.06	1.62	0.11	0.50	0.28
	Min	74.27	10.01	108.41	8.22	0.00	5.48
	Max	111.82	10.20	112.78	8.53	1.00	6.26
NL	Mean	100.76	10.69	492.74	9.64	0.50	7.05
	SD	6.62	0.05	8.07	0.03	0.50	0.00
	Min	91.14	10.61	482.28	9.58	0.00	7.05
	Max	109.53	10.76	505.50	9.68	1.00	7.06
Norway	Mean	98.77	10.31	114.51	8.70	0.50	5.61
	SD	9.22	0.05	0.94	0.11	0.50	0.43
	Min	85.03	10.25	112.72	8.46	0.00	5.21
	Max	109.08	10.39	115.44	8.80	1.00	6.44
Portugal	Mean	99.66	10.16	112.21	8.58	0.50	5.66
	SD	8.79	0.13	0.47	0.11	0.50	0.07
	Min	84.51	9.90	111.69	8.38	0.00	5.57
	Max	109.09	10.27	112.95	8.68	1.00	5.76
Slovakia	Mean	99.38	10.77	13.42	8.85	0.50	5.93
	SD	7.86	0.33	0.62	0.10	0.50	0.11
	Min	88.00	9.99	12.57	8.69	0.00	5.77
	Max	112.44	11.01	14.34	8.97	1.00	6.07
Estonia	Mean	98.37	9.89	31.23	7.60	0.50	5.17
	SD	13.26	0.68	0.67	0.10	0.50	0.37
	Min	76.00	8.26	30.24	7.39	0.00	4.57
	Max	112.03	10.30	32.14	7.76	1.00	5.68

Country		CPI	LOG GDP per capita	PD	LOG WM	PAYT (dummy variable)	LOG FW
France	Mean	99.90	10.59	118.60	10.07	0.50	6.93
	SD	5.26	0.04	2.50	0.08	0.50	0.12
	Min	91.16	10.53	114.52	9.93	0.00	6.73
	Max	105.77	10.66	122.11	10.18	1.00	7.06
Ireland	Mean	101.06	10.73	65.13	7.11	0.50	6.01
	SD	5.11	0.05	3.19	0.24	0.50	0.21
	Min	90.93	10.67	59.08	6.77	0.00	5.68
	Max	105.66	10.81	69.03	7.40	1.00	6.27
Italy	Mean	100.08	10.25	201.50	9.95	0.50	6.89
	SD	6.74	0.46	3.68	0.11	0.50	0.07
	Min	89.20	9.49	196.12	9.78	0.00	6.76
	Max	107.46	10.60	206.67	10.11	1.00	6.96
Poland	Mean	100.65	9.91	124.33	8.67	0.50	6.70
	SD	6.28	0.35	0.21	0.13	0.50	0.18
	Min	89.72	9.09	124.01	8.43	0.00	6.45
	Max	107.69	10.15	124.64	8.84	1.00	6.91
UK	Mean	100.21	10.63	259.41	10.23	0.50	7.00
	SD	9.26	0.03	7.75	0.06	0.50	0.06
	Min	86.31	10.59	247.96	10.11	0.00	6.91
	Max	112.08	10.67	271.13	10.30	1.00	7.11
Slovakia	Mean	99.66	10.16	112.21	8.58	0.50	5.66
	SD	8.79	0.13	0.47	0.11	0.50	0.07
	Min	84.51	9.90	111.69	8.38	0.00	5.57
	Max	109.09	10.27	112.95	8.68	1.00	5.76

Table 15. Descriptive statistics Pay-as-you-throw approach

Popular Scientific Summary Master thesis in food science – EX0875 Lena Krautscheid Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Assessing the impact of policy instruments on food waste reduction in the EU

In a human's life, there are several needs that has to be satisfied. One of the most urgent needs is nutrition. In order to fulfil these need, food security has to be provided all around the world. But, the current food system is unsustainable, being characterised by unequal distribution of food across the world. This not only lead to the triple burden of malnutrition (hunger, micro-nutrient deficiencies and obesity) but also to several economic, evironmental and social consequences. Achieving a population of 9 billion by 2050 will increase urbanization, demand for food and wealth. The current agricultural system is shaped by monocultures that has deprived the natural resources at an alarming rate. Environmental consequences like soil pollution, degradation, loss of biodiversity are only a few examples of these consequences. Moreover, the ongoing climate change and the unsustainable agricultural production will make it even harder to produce food in the future and provide food security. This is even more controverse since there is enough food produced on the world to feed the whole population. It is about the distribution and the food that is lost in the process as well as wasted at the consumer and retailer stage. It is known that around 1/3 of the food that is produced is wasted or lost, resulting in an emergence way to find a solution for it. Food loss is characterised to happen more often in developing countries, due to lack of infrastructure like cooling facilities etc., while food waste is characterised to happen more often in developed countries. This is because of the oversupply, high appearance standards of the food and the lifestyle change that occured in the past years. The population tend to demand more convenient food that is easy to grasp as well as the demand for more land and water demanding foods are increasing, like milk and dairy.

There are several actions needed to find a solution for not only the current unsustainable food system but also the food loss and waste problem that is interlinked with it. The UN published several goals to fight food insecurity and food waste and loss around the world, like the SDG 2 (end hunger) and 12 (ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns) as well as the EU implemented directives and published a Circular Economy Package to set targets for combatting waste. One way to fulfil the goals and targets is to implement economic incentives for example taxes or fees to let the population pay for the waste they produce or provide subsidies in developing countries to avoid food loss. Therefore, this thesis took a look at three different economic incentives, the incineration tax, the landfill tax and the pay-asyou-throw approach and their impact on the reduction of food waste. The focus was on the member states of the EU, where food waste is appearing more often that food loss. To analyse the research questions, a multiple regression analysis was utilized that includes several variables and calculate the amount that the variables influences food waste in a negative or positive way. In the model, independent variables covering all three pillars of sustainable development were included. In the analysis not all member states of the EU could have been assessed due to the quantity of data on food waste. It was only a dataset available from the period 2004-2016, which lead to an exclusion of several countries. Nevertheless, there were still five member states for the incineration tax, seven for the landfill tax and six for the pay-as-youthrow approach available. It was shown, that each economic incentive and member states' results varied significantly and the level of income of the member states had not an influence on the amount of food waste or waste performance. Also, the quantities of food waste in the member states varied, which is due to the lack of unified definition of food waste acroos the member countries as well as the poor quantity of data. But in general the results show that the landfill tax has a decreasing effect on food waste and the incineration tax and PAYT approach show both, an increasing and decreasing effect on food waste. Overall, it can be said that the variable "WM" had for almost all member states a decreasing effect on food waste, which results in the conclusion that waste management is viable.

All in all, the economic incentives that were included in the model are the most common ones to use for waste disposal but there is no prefect incentive or instrument to reduce food waste. Thus, a variety of instruments like taxes, subsidies, campaigns, knowledge and education has to be applied to reduce food waste and achieve the SDG's 2 and 12 as well as the targets set by the EU. A collaboration of all stake-holders operating in the food chain is needed as well as unified definition of food waste and loss to make data more reliable and transparent and be able to include more member states for better comparison.

Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet Institutionen för energi och teknik Box 7032 750 07 UPPSALA www.slu.se/institutioner/energi-teknik Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Energy and Technology P. O. Box 7032 SE-750 07 UPPSALA SWEDEN www.slu.se/en/departments/energytechnology/